
Jo Miller
Chief Executive

Issued on: 12th October, 2017

Governance Services Officer Andrew Sercombe
for this meeting: 01302 734354

To all Members of the

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS 
EDUCATION (SACRE)

AGENDA

Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Committee
is to be held as follows:

 
VENUE    Council Chamber - Civic Office 
DATE:     Friday, 20th October, 2017
TIME:      3.00 pm

Items for Discussion:

 PageNo.
1.  Apologies for absence.  

2.  Declarations of Interest.  

3.  Minutes of the meeting held on 6th June 2017.  1 - 6

A. Reports where the public and press may not be excluded.

4.  Constitution, Terms of Reference and Governance Arrangements 
2017/18 (attached).  

7 - 64

5.  Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education Membership and 
Attendance (attached).  

65 - 72

6.  Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education - Work Programme 
2017/18 (attached).  

73 - 76

Public Document Pack



7.  Information Exchange (attached).  77 - 78

8.  NASACRE Bulletin (attached).  79 - 88

9.  Date, time and location of Spring Term meeting  

Members of the Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 

Chair – Rev T McCready (Doncaster Interfaith
Vice-Chair – Mr B Gillham (Doncaster Society of Friends)

Councillors Kevin Rodgers, Andrea Robinson, Derek Smith and Jonathan Wood

Mr R Iball, Methodist
Mrs P Kaur, Sikh
Ms S Norburn, Humanist 
Mr S Syed, Muslim
Mr B Teimoori, Baha’l
Lucy Saxton, Roman Catholic
Mary Sivaanbu, Hindu
Ms J Crowther, Church of England
Ms A Nicolson, National Union of Teachers
Mr T Griffiths, National Association of Headteachers



DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

 STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)

TUESDAY, 6TH JUNE, 2016

A  MEETING of the STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
(SACRE) was held at the CIVIC OFFICE in ROOM 008 on TUESDAY, 6TH JUNE 
2016, at 4.00 pm.

PRESENT: 

Chair – Reverend Tom McCready – Unitarian (Doncaster Interfaith)
Vice-Chair – Mr Bruce Gillham (Balby (Doncaster) Society of Friends)

Councillors: Andrea Robinson, Kevin Rodgers and Derek Smith.

Mrs J Gessler, Mrs P Kaur, Mr S Syed, Mr B Teimoori, Mary Sivaanbu and Mr T 
Griffiths.

APOLOGIES: 

Apologies for absence were received from Ms S Norburn, Ms J Crowther and Ms A 
Nicolson. 

38 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY. 

No declarations were reported at the meeting.

39. QUORUM

As apologies had been received from the Church of England representative, Ms J 
Crowther and Mr T Griffiths from the Teacher’s Association was not present after the 
expiry of five minutes, the meeting was declared inquorate.  It was agreed that the 
meeting continue on an informal basis and the recommendations be ratified at the 
next quorate meeting of SACRE. 

40. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 
The Clerk sought nominations for the appointment of Chair.

RECOMMENDED that:

Reverend Tom McCready be appointed Chair for the forthcoming year.

41.     APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR

The Chair sought nominations for the appointment of Vice Chair

RECOMMENDED that:-

Mr B Gillham be appointed Vice Chair for the forthcoming year.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



42. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

As there had been some changes to membership of the SACRE, all present were 
given the opportunity to introduce themselves to the meeting.

43. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 6TH MARCH, 2017 

RECOMMENDED that the minutes of the meeting held on the 6th March, 2017 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

44. REVIEW OF MEMBERSHIP AND ATTENDANCE. 

Members discussed membership and attendance and raised the following issues:

Concern was raised in respect of vacancies and non-attendance of Members from 
Committee B (The Church of England ) and Committee C (Teacher’s Association) 
which resulted in the last 4 meetings being inquorate. The Chair explained he had 
made enquiries with the Bishop and with Reverend Stephens to try and identify an 
Anglican representative and he would look to make further attempts to fill these 
vacancies. Andrew Sercombe confirmed that in accordance with the Terms of 
Reference the nominee should be representative of the religion, denomination or 
associations in question.

In respect of identifying further representatives from the Teacher’s Association 
members recognised the additional pressures facing teaching and other professional 
staff in giving up their time to attend meetings. 

Members recognised that schools were a key partner in helping to shape RE provision 
throughout the Borough and teacher involvement was crucial in developing the agreed 
syllabus.

Members discussed practical ways of raising the profile of SACRE and appointing to  
the vacancies by emphasising the importance of its work and the professional and 
developmental opportunities that exist for individual’s to help shape future RE 
provision in schools.

The clerk informed the meeting he had had some initial discussions with a colleague 
in Rotherham and he would look to explore possibilities of sharing good practice and 
resources including membership.
 
Members recognised that appointing to the outstanding vacancies was a priority as 
SACRE needed its full complement of members to ensure it was effective and able to 
drive forward its work programme, particularly in reviewing the Agreed Syllabus and 
publishing its Annual Report.

Mrs J Gessler informed the group this would be her last meeting as she was moving 
out of the area. Members thanked Mrs Gessler for her service and contribution to 
SACRE.

RECOMMENDED that:

The following actions be undertaken:-

Page 2



a) The Chair and Vice Chair draft a letter be sent to all schools seeking 
nominations for Committee C (Teacher’s Association) and emphasising 
the opportunity to be involved in shaping and developing an agreed 
syllabus.

b) A letter be forwarded to Church of England Schools in the Borough 
seeking nominations for Committee B (Church of England) and C 
(Teacher’s Association) vacancies. 

c) The work of SACRE and a request for nominations to outstanding 
vacancies on Committee B and C be raised at a future Primary and 
Secondary Headteacher’s Forum.

d) Jonathon Sharpe to raise the issue of unfilled vacancies at a future 
Directors of Diocesan meeting with a view to seeking nominations.

e) A letter be forwarded to all Chairs of Governing Bodies to raise the 
profile of the work of SACRE and seek nominations to the vacancies on 
Committees B and C.

f) A press article be drafted to raise public awareness of SACRE and its 
purpose and importance. 

g) Jonathon Sharpe to contact the teachers Union ATL and NUT to seek 
nominations for representatives; and

h) Mrs Gessler’s resignation be noted and the SACRE express its gratitude 
for her service and contribution to SACRE.

45. UPDATE ON PREPARATIONS TO REVIEW WAYS OF WORKING OF SACRE 
FROM SEPTEMBER 2018 

Jonathon Sharpe informed the meeting that changes to support arrangements over 
recent months provided an opportunity for members to review and reshape the role of 
SACRE and identify clear priorities moving forward. He reiterated the importance of 
ensuring a full complement of members and regular attendance to ensure the work 
programme could be driven forward.

Members were informed that in addition to filling vacancies on the SACRE there was 
an opportunity to review governance arrangements to agree a shared understanding 
of the core purpose and the way in which it carried out its functions. During discussion 
Members recognised the need to operate within the legislation but also acknowledged 
there was a  need to operate flexibly to take account of changing national and local 
circumstances. 

Members discussed the work required to develop a new agreed syllabus. This was a 
core function of SACRE. In recognising this challenge Jonathon Sharpe explained he 
had contacted Rotherham Borough Council to discuss how their SACRE operates and 
identify opportunities to share resources and best practice. Further discussions would 
take place to identify any specific support or actions that could be implemented to 
support Doncaster’s SACRE. 

Jonathon suggested that a workshop session for members at the next meeting would 
be helpful in ensuring a clear understanding of the role of SACRE, its terms of 
reference, operating arrangements, core purpose and development of a work plan.

RECOMMENDED that the proposed approach to reviewing the key governance 
arrangements and the purpose and practice of SACRE be considered at the 
Autumn Term meeting.

Page 3



46. UPDATE ON COLLABORATIVE WORK AND PREPARATION/WORKING PARTY 
FOR AGREED SYLLABUS 2018

Jonathon Sharpe reminded the SACRE of its requirement to commence work on an 
agreed Syllabus 2018. He reported that he had spoken to colleagues at  Rotherham 
Council who had indicated they were happy to collaborate with Doncaster and share 
details of current practices and knowledge on the development of the agreed Syllabus. 
Further discussions would take place in respect of the level of support, assistance and 
interaction that would be made available and any resource implications arising from 
any potential collaboration.

RECOMMENDED that further discussions with a view to developing a 
collaborative approach continue to be undertaken by Jonathon Sharpe on 
behalf of SACRE. 

47. INFORMATION EXCHANGE

i. Challenging RE Conference – Members received feedback from the 
“Encouraging the Provision of Challenging RE conference held at the Hub, 
Rotherham on 14th March 2017.

ii. Iftar under the Stars and Aurora – the Chair reported that 1st Doncaster Hunafa 
Scout Group are hosting the first ever “Iftar Under the Stars” event in 
Doncaster, this Ramadan to give an insight in to Ramadan and Scouting.

iii. The 2017 Aurora Humanitarian Index - The Chair referred to an article form the 
Guardian that was attached to the agenda he highlighted the positive attitudes 
of young people towards humanitarian and the individual impact on the refugee 
crisis. 

iv. Multi Faith Event Saltersgate Infant School and Links With Schools- The Vice 
Chair informed Members he was organising and participating in a free multi 
faith event at Scawsby Saltersgate Infant School during the Autumn Term. It 
was proposed that representatives from 6 different faiths would deliver the 
school assembly as a multi faith workshop which would give pupils the 
opportunity to learn about aspects of each of the religions. The Vice Chair 
sought support from SACRE members to participate and assist with the event. 
Andrew Sercombe confirmed that whilst members could participate and raise 
awareness of SCARE it was outside the terms of reference to run this as a 
SACRE event. In addition the meeting was able to comment on the merit of the 
event but not formally endorse as it was not quorate.

 
Members recognised however, that this event could be useful for SACRE in terms of 
developing evidence about RE in schools which was within the remit of SACRE.

Mr Syed informed the group that he used to regularly attend schools to give talks 
about Islam but over recent years as a number of schools had moved to academy 
status there had been reduced interest.

Members were also informed that the Ethnic Minority and Traveller Achievement 
Service also work with schools to highlight diversity and this includes promoting an 
understanding of different cultures.

Page 4



RECOMMENDED that information be received and noted.

48. NASACRE BULLETIN

Issue 14 of the NASACRE Bulletin was attached to the agenda for information.

RECOMMENDED that Members receive and note the information.

49. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

AGREED that the Autumn Term meeting be held on Wednesday 27th 
September at 4pm, meeting Room to be advised.

CHAIR:                                                    DATE:                    

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



20 October, 2017

To the Chair and Members of the
STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)

CONSTITUTION, TERMS OF REFERENCE AND GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
2017/18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report seeks agreement to the Constitution and Terms of Reference for the 
Committee.

RECOMMENDATION

2. The Committee is requested to:-

1) Agree the Constitution and Terms of Reference attached at Appendix 1 to 
the report; 

2) Adopt the seven principles of Public life detailed at paragraph 5;

3) Operate in accordance with the CIPFA good governance principles; and
 

4) Receive a copy of Religious Education in English schools: Non‑Statutory  
guidance 20 10 attached at Appendix 2. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER

3. The Council is committed to maintaining the highest standards of Governance, 
and the proposed Terms of Reference allow for the proper discharge of its 
functions by a Committee or Sub-Committee ensuring openness and 
transparency in terms of the Council’s decision making processes. This ensures 
this obligation is met.

BACKGROUND

Terms of Reference and Constitution
4. At the first meeting each year, Terms of Reference for Committees are 

approved.

5. The current Constitution and Terms of Reference for SACRE is attached at 
Appendix 1 of the report these incorporate the key functions, roles and 
responsibilities of the SACRE and aim to ensure it operates effectively. 
Some additional wording has been added to the current Terms and these 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



have been highlighted in the text.

Seven Principles of Public Life
In addition to the Constitution and Terms of Reference the SACRE members 
are also asked to recognise and adopt the seven principles of public life 
(Nolan Principles) whilst acting in their capacity as SACRE members. These 
principles are widely recognised as the key principles to be adopted by 
individual’s carrying out public service. These are as follows: -

i.Selflessness: 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public  interest. They 
should not do so in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, 
their family or their friends.

ii.Integrity: 
Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or 
other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to 
influence them in the performance of their official duties.

iii.Objectivity: 
In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, 
holders of public office should make choices on merit.

Iv.Accountability: 
Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and actions to the 
public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to 
their office.

v.Openness: 
Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the decisions 
and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and 
restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands.

vi.Honesty: 
Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating 
to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a 
way that protects the public interest. 

vii.Leadership: 
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the principles 
and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Good Governance In The Public Sector
The chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has also 
established a number of key principles which support a framework of good 
governance adopted by bodies and organisations carrying out a public 
function, The key principle is to act in the public interest at all times and this 
requires:

A. Strong commitment to integrity, ethical values, and the rule of law; and

Page 8



B. Openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

In addition to the requirements for acting in the public interest, achieving 
good governance in the public sector also requires:

C.  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits;

D.  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of 
intended outcomes;

E.  Developing the capacity of the entity, including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it;

F   Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management; and

G.  Implementing good practices in transparency and reporting to deliver 
effective accountability.

Religious Education in English schools: Non‑Statutory guidance 20 10:

To supplement the terms of reference and constitution this document is 
attached at Appendix 2 to ensure all Members have a reference document to 
assist them in their role as members of SACRE.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASON FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

8. SACRE can accept, reject or accept in part, the terms of reference and 
constitution set out in this report. However, any changes must ensure that 
the SACRE is operating within the legislative requirements. It is 
recommended that all the proposals are accepted.

RISKS & ASSUMPTIONS

9. There are no specific risks associated with this report. This report seeks to 
ensure principles of good governance are identified and adhered  identified 
risks associated with this report.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

10.
Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

The Council is committed to 
maintaining the highest standards 
of Governance and robust Terms of 
Reference allow for the proper 
discharge of the Council’s 
functions, ensuring openness and 
transparency.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

11. Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 empower the 

Page 9



Council to arrange for the discharge of any of its functions by a Committee 
or Sub-Committee.  The proposals outlined in the report are consistent with 
these powers.

CONSULTATION

12. Relevant lead Officers for the Committee, have been invited to submit any 
proposed revisions to Committee and Sub-Committee Terms of Reference, 
the details of which are set out within paragraph 7 of this report, to ensure 
that the Terms of Reference are robust and fit for purpose.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

13. There are no human resources implications associated with this report.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

14. The SACRE will operate in accordance with the relevant equalities legislation 
and best practice principles.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

15. There are no specific financial implications associated with this report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

116. There are no specific technology implications associated with this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None

REPORT AUTHORS

Andrew Sercombe, Governance and Members Services Manager
Tel: 01302 734354

Amber Torrington, Governance Officer
Tel: 01302 734672, Email: amber.torrington@doncaster.gov.uk

CONTRIBUTORS

Jonathan Sharp, Senior Education Standards and Effectiveness Officer
Tel: 01302 737250, Email: jonathan.sharp@doncaster.gov.uk

Damian Allen
Director of People

Page 10

javascript:searchAdvanced('JobTitle',%20'Equals',%20'Senior%20Education%20Standards%20and%20Effectiveness%20Officer')


APPENDIX 1

CONSTITUTION AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)

Introduction

1. It is required by law that religious education must be taught to all registered pupils 
in maintained schools up to the age of 18, except for those withdrawn by their 
parents. Religious Education is a distinctive but core part of the basic curriculum 
for maintained schools in England. It is not part of the National Curriculum, 
because it is a local responsibility, but it is taught alongside the National 
Curriculum.

2. Since 1988, the Local Authority has had a statutory duty to establish a permanent 
body called a Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE). A 
SACRE is part of the Local Government machinery; it main function is to advise 
the Local Authority on matters related to agreed syllabus RE and collective 
worship in the majority of maintained schools. The exceptions are:

(a) religious education in voluntary aided schools where RE is determined by 
the Governors and taught according to the school’s trust deed; 

(b) collective worship in all schools with a religious character where worship 
can be reflective of that religious faith; and

(c) Academies (even those which follow the LA agreed syllabus)

3. The locally agreed syllabus is the statutory document for religious education in 
the Local Authority. It is produced by an agreed syllabus conference (ASC). The 
agreed syllabus has to be reviewed every five years.

4. SACRE will operate within the law and current guidance issued by parliament, 
the courts and the Department for Education (DfE). If there is any conflict of 
interest between this constitution and terms of reference and the law SACRE will 
comply with the law.

Statutory Responsibilities

5. Doncaster SACRE must:

(a) Advise the LA on such matters connected with agreed syllabus religious 
education and collective worship either in response to a referral from the 
LA or as it see fit;

(b) Publish an annual report on its work and on actions taken by its 
representative groups, specifying any matters on which it has advised the 
LA, broadly describing the nature of that advise, and set out reasons for 
offering advice on matters not referred to it by the LA;

(c) Send a copy of the report to the relevant government agency;

Page 11



(d) Consider applications from a head teacher that the school be released 
from the requirement for collective worship to be “wholly or mainly of a 
broadly Christian character” for some or all of their pupils (this is known as 
a determination);

(e) Meet in public unless confidential information is to be disclosed; and

(f) Produce minutes of its meetings available for inspection at the LA’s offices 
and on the Council’s Website (so far as the minutes relate to the parts of 
meetings that were open to the public).

Doncaster SACRE should:

(g) Monitor the provision and quality of agreed syllabus RE and of collective 
worship;

(h) In partnership with the LA, consider whether any changes need to be 
made to the agreed syllabus or in the support offered to schools in the 
implementation of the agreed syllabus, to improve the quality, teaching 
and learning in RE; 

(i) Offer advice to the LA, and through the LA to schools, concerning how an 
existing agreed syllabus can be interpreted so as to fit in with a broad, 
balanced and coherent curriculum;

(j) Require the LA to set up an occasional body called an agreed syllabus 
conference (ASC) to review the agreed syllabus every five years. If, at 
some other time, and after discussion and a vote (the LA group on SACRE 
is not entitled to cast a vote in this context) the majority of the committees 
of the SACRE asks the LA in writing to reconsider its agreed syllabus, it 
must convene a conference for that purpose.

In addition, Doncaster SACRE may:

(k) Decide to advise Doncaster LA on matters to do with RE and collective 
worship;

(l) Co-opt individuals who are not members of any of the four groups to 
provide educational expertise, young peoples’ views or religious or non-
religious views that reflect a diverse multi-cultural society.

Page 12



CONSTITUTION

Membership of SACRE

6. The Doncaster SACRE will be represented by members who are 
committed to education and representing the views of others. They will 
have responsibility for supporting children’s learning in RE and collective 
worship, and for working for the highest standards in both. They are 
committed to social harmony and community cohesion.

7. SACRE members will represent their community in the work of SACRE 
and communicate the interests of SACRE back to their community.

8. The LA must appoint representatives to each of four groups, representing 
respectively:

Group A: Such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the 
LA’s opinion, will appropriately reflect the principal religious 
traditions in the Doncaster area.

Group B: The Church of England

Group C: Such associations representing teachers and head teachers 
as, in the opinion of the LA, ought, having regard to the 
circumstances of the Borough Council, to be represented.

Group D: The Local Authority: those appointed should represent the 
political balance of the Council

Composition

9. The composition of the groups shall be as follows:

Group A: Christian and other religious denominations
Eleven (11) members representative of:
Christian non-conformist/Free churches – Four
Roman Catholic – One
Judaism – One
Hinduism – One
Islam – One
Baha’l – One
Sikhism – One
Muslim – One 
Humanism (co-opted) – One

Group B: The Church of England: Four (4) representatives

Group C: Teachers: Five (5) representatives

Group D: The Local Authority: Four (4) representatives

Page 13



10. When appointing a person to be a member of a group on SACRE, the LA 
takes all reasonable steps to ensure that the nominee is representative of 
the religion, denomination or associations in question.

11. The SACRE shall review the composition of each committee and the 
attendance annually (at the Autumn Term meeting).

Co-opted Members

12. Other persons may be co-opted by the representative groups on the 
SACRE for such purposes and such length of time as representative 
groups on the SACRE might decide. Co-opted members do not belong to 
any of the groups and do not have voting rights. Co-opted members may 
resign at any time and may be removed by the representative groups or 
the LA at any time.

13. Any member of SACRE unable to attend a meeting should appoint a 
named substitute to attend in his/her place.

Chair and Vice-Chair

14. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be elected by the representative members 
of the SACRE.

15. The Chair and Vice-Chair, where possible, will represent different groups 
on the SACRE.

16. Voting for the Chair and Vice-Chair will be by a simple majority.

17. Persons continuing to be members of the SACRE are eligible for re-
appointment to the position of Chair and Vice-Chair.

18. The main specific role of the Chair is to manage the work of SACRE in 
accordance with statutory requirements and local circumstances.

19. The Chair will be responsible for:

(a) the management of meetings;

(b) representing the SACRE to other bodies;

(c) leading the SACRE in its own self-evaluation and 
development/training programmes;

(d) such other duties as the SACRE considers appropriate

20. The Vice-Chair will be responsible for:

(a) deputising for the Chair as required;

(b) representing the SACRE to other bodies in the absence of the Char 
or in agreement with the Chair;

Page 14



(c) such other duties as the SACRE considers appropriate.

Voting Procedures in SACRE

21. On any issue to be decided by the SACRE, except as provided in 
statement 14 above, only the four representative groups shall be entitled 
to vote. They have equal voting rights: one vote per group.

22. Issues shall be decided by a simple majority vote.

23. A proposal shall not be deemed to be carried unless it has been approved 
by at least three of the four groups, unless otherwise required by law or 
guidance.

Voting Procedures within Representative Groups

24. Before any representative group casts its single vote on any issue to be 
decided by the SACRE it shall meet to decide the issue. The decision of 
the representative group shall be determined by a simple majority vote in 
which each member of the group has one vote.

25. If there is a tied vote the group shall abstain from voting on the issue in 
SACRE. There shall not be a casting vote.

Quorum

26. Meetings of the SACRE shall be quorate if a least one representative 
member from each of the four representative groups is present. If the 
meeting is not quorate either business shall not be transacted or the 
meeting could continue but decisions would have to be ratified at the next 
SACRE meeting.

Terms of Office of Representative Members

27. The representative members shall hold office until such time as they 
resign or they become ineligible for membership. When a vacancy does 
arise the LA must attempt to appoint a replacement member to the 
SACRE to represent the same group as the retiring member.

28. Interests, whether personal or prejudicial, should be declared. If a member 
has a prejudicial interest they should declare that interest and withdraw 
from the meeting and take no part in the decision.

29. Members or co-opted members who fail to attend three or more 
consecutive meetings without a satisfactory explanation will have their 
membership reviewed by the SACRE. The LA may remove any 
representative or co-opted member who has failed to attend three 
consecutive meetings without valid reason.

Page 15



Agenda

30. Matters for the agenda of any meeting shall be sent to the Clerk at least 21 
days in advance of the meeting. The Clerk should meet with the Chair to 
agree the content and business to the considered on the agenda for each 
meeting.

Validity of proceedings

31. The validity of any proceedings of the SACRE or of any representative 
group shall not be affected by either:

(a) a vacancy among representative members; and

(b) any assertion that a representative member does not at the time 
represent the denomination or associations which he/she was 
appointed to represent.

Administrative arrangements

32. The LA shall provide a person to act as Clerk to the SACRE (who will be 
supported by an officer from Governance Services for meeting administration 
purposes) who will:

(a) attend the full meetings of SACRE, any agenda setting meeting with 
the Chair and agreed syllabus conference meetings;

(b) distribute agendas, take appropriate minutes and notes at meetings 

(c) Maintain and update the records of SACRE and its meetings

(d) Perform any other necessary administrative duties; and

(e) Provide a copy of the draft minutes and papers of meetings to the 
members of SACRE and LA (5 clear working days before the next 
meeting take place).

33. The LA shall provide accommodation for the meeting of the SACRE, which 
will usually take place at the Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, unless 
otherwise stated on the agenda for the meeting.

34. The Director of People or anyone nominated by him/her shall be entitled to 
be present throughout the proceedings of the SACRE and shall be entitled 
to give advice on behalf of the LA as he/she thinks appropriate. He/she will 
ensure that the LA provides sufficient funds and support for SACRE to 
perform its duties, and take note of and respond to advice from SACRE.

35. The attendance of a LA officer at a SACRE meeting may be specifically 
requested by the SACRE when it requires advice or guidance on a 
particular issue.

Page 16



36. unless agreed otherwise by the SACRE the agenda and reports for each 
meeting shall be circulated at least 5 clear working days before the 
meeting to each member of the SACRE.

37. The specific responsibilities of the SACRE consultant is to:

(a) attend each meeting of the SACRE and support the SACRE to fulfil 
its legislative duties in Doncaster;

(b) work with the Chair and Clerk to prepare the SACRE agenda and 
any report, papers or advice required;

(c) provide advice to the SACRE on professional issues. Professional 
Advisors are not members of the SACRE and cannot vote;

(d) advise and update SACRE members on any new government 
guidance or policy documents;

(e) regularly report back to SACRE on work completed on behalf of 
SACRE; and

(f) provide expertise and advice in the areas of RE and collective 
worship.

Frequency of meetings

38. SACRE must meet sufficient times to fulfil its statutory duty. There will 
normally be three SACRE meetings per year, one in each of the academic 
terms. Meetings will be convened by the LA.

39. Special meetings may be called by the Chair and LA acting jointly.

Disputes and complaints

40. The SACRE is intended to be a collective, co-operative body and needs to 
ensure that no particular sector or member is unduly favoured. Problems 
and issues should normally be debated and resolved at the SACRE 
meetings. However, if parties feel that these have not been resolved, the 
following process should be followed and minutes taken:

(a) Stage 1: The parties who are in dispute meet with the Chair if the 
SACRE and the Professional Advisor who will assist in finding or 
recommending a solution.

(b) Stage 2: A special meeting of the SACRE is convened, with papers 
prepared by the parties representing different views. The Chair and 
the Professional Advisor also prepare a paper offering possible 
options for resolution. If the problem is not resolved, the dispute is 
referred to Stage 3.

(c) Stage 3: If the issue is not resolved then guidance or clarification 
will be sought from the relevant Government Department.

Page 17



(d) Complaints from members of the public will be handled by the 
Council’s Complaints Procedure.

Page 18



Religious education 
in English schools: 
Non‑statutory 
guidance 20 10 

Page 19



 

 
 

   
 

 

 

  
 

   

  

 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 

Contents 

1 Context 4
 
About this guidance 4 

Scope of the guidance 4 

Why updated guidance for RE? 4 

The wider context for RE 6 


2 The importance of RE 7 

Spiritual, moral, social and cultural development 7 

Personal development and well-being 7 

Community cohesion 7 


3 The Legal framework, rights and 

responsibilities 10 


schools
 

The role and responsibility of a standing advisory
 

The role and responsibility of an agreed syllabus  


The legal basis of RE in the curriculum of maintained  10 


The role and responsibility of the local authority 10 


council on religious education 12 


Conference 13 

The agreed syllabus 14 

The RE curriculum in different types of schools 14 

Inspection 16 

The responsibilities of governors and headteachers 16 

RE provision and the workforce 16 

Parents’ and pupils 17 

Complaints 18 


4 Guidance on providing high-quality RE 19
 
Good practice for LAs working in partnership with  


Checklist for an effective partnership between an LA 


SACREs and ASCs  19 

SACRE membership 21 

SACREs and community cohesion 22 

ASCs and the agreed syllabus 23 

Breadth and depth in the agreed syllabus 23 


and its SACRE/ASC 25 


5 Good practice for school governors 

and headteachers 26
 
All schools 26 

Every Child Matters 26 

The responsibilities of governors and headteachers 26 

Teachers and the school workforce 27 

The right of withdrawal 27 


2
 Page 20



 

 
 

 

 

 
  

 

  

 

 
 
 

Checklist for governors and headteachers 30 

Checklist for managing the right of withdrawal 30 


6 Good practice for people who manage, plan, 

teach and support RE 31
 
Provision of RE in the curriculum 31 

Curriculum planning in RE 31 

RE and the Early Years Foundation Stage 34 

RE post 14 34 

Qualifications 35 

Checklist for people planning RE 40 

Checklist for monitoring and evaluating RE provision 40 

Checklist for planning and managing RE post 14 41 


7 Support for RE 37
 
Religion and belief communities 37 

Learning outside the classroom       38 


8 Further references 42 

Professional RE associations 42 

Government agencies 42 

Publications 44 

Useful websites 45
 

3
 Page 21



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

 

  

                                            
  
  

1 Context 

About this guidance 

The purpose of this publication, produced by the Department for Children, 
Schools and Families (DCSF), is to support the provision of high-quality 
religious education (RE) in maintained schools in England. It provides clear 
non-statutory guidance about RE in the curriculum and the roles of those who 
have a responsibility for, involvement in or interest in the subject. The 
guidance is intended for: 

	 local authorities (LAs), standing advisory councils on religious 
education (SACREs) and agreed syllabus conferences (ASCs) 

 governors, headteachers, curriculum planners, teachers and 
trainee teachers of RE and others in maintained schools  

	 educational agencies, advisers, inspectors and consultants 

	 providers of initial teacher training (ITT) and continuing professional 
development (CPD), trainers and mentors 

	 representatives of religion and belief groups locally and nationally 

	 RE professional bodies, national and local. 

This guidance does not constitute an authoritative interpretation of the law; 
that is a matter for the courts. 

Scope of the guidance 

This guidance replaces the elements of Circular 1/94 that relate to RE and 
explains that RE is a distinctive but core part of the basic curriculum for 
maintained schools in England.1 It relates to the Secretary of State’s duty in 
relation to the curriculum. The curriculum for a maintained school must be a 
balanced and broadly based one which ‘promotes the spiritual, moral, cultural, 
mental and physical development of pupils and of society, and prepares 
pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life.’2 

It also provides checklists, case studies and links to relevant websites for 
people involved in designing and teaching RE. 

Why updated guidance for RE? 

RE is an important curriculum subject. It is important in its own right and also 
makes a unique contribution to the spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
development of pupils and supports wider community cohesion. The 
Government is keen to ensure all pupils receive high-quality RE. 

A number of important changes have taken place not just since 1994 but also 
since 2004 when the non-statutory national framework for RE (‘the 

1 Section 80(1), Education Act 2002 
2 Section 79 (1), School Standards and Framework Act 

4
 Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Framework’) was published. 

In particular new illustrative RE programmes of study for secondary education 
were published in 2007 and a new RE programme of learning for primary 
education in January 2010. These effectively replace pages 19-30 of the 
Framework and provide a basis for LAs, SACREs and their ASCs to develop 
statutory local syllabuses and for schools in certain cases to determine their 
own individual syllabuses. 

There have also been changes in both educational structures and in 
approaches to the wider curriculum: 

 The Every Child Matters agenda and the Children’s Plan have placed 
increased emphasis on personalisation and on the development of the 
whole child or young person in social and emotional as well as 
cognitive terms. 

	 New types of school have come into existence, such as academies, 
and provision for children’s early years has been extended. Each 
contributes to an educational vision which now routinely caters for the 
needs of young people up to the age of 19.  

	 The first minority faith schools to open in the state sector were Jewish. 
Since 1997, educational provision has included the establishment of 
the first maintained Muslim, Sikh and Hindu schools as voluntary-aided 
schools and the establishment of new Jewish voluntary-aided 
maintained schools. 

	 The curriculum is less prescriptive as to content than it was. Schools 
have the flexibility to provide more coherent and integrated cross-
curricular learning experiences to complement discrete subject 
teaching tailored to the needs of their pupils and community. In practice 
this means that subjects such as RE, history or citizenship might be 
taught discretely but also together within a humanities framework, with 
links to history and citizenship. Some schools might choose to focus on 
intensive teaching of RE in particular years. Consequently individual 
subjects may not feature in the curriculum under their traditional names 
or indeed be taught always in discrete subject areas. 

	 Cross-curricular dimensions such as identity, cultural diversity and 
community cohesion provide important unifying themes that help young 
people make sense of the world and give education relevance. They 
reflect the major ideas and challenges that face individuals and society 
and can provide a focus for work within and between subjects and 
across the curriculum as a whole. 

	 Reflecting this flexibility the inspection of maintained schools by Ofsted 
focuses on school improvement, on educational outcomes for subjects, 
and on the curriculum as a whole, rather than on the time and detailed 
content devoted to individual subjects. It is also concerned with the 
well-being of every pupil. 

5
 Page 23



 

 

 

However while schools are free to decide when and how subjects are taught 
and how much time is spent on each subject, they remain responsible for 
implementing the legally required syllabus (whether the locally agreed 
syllabus or their individual one) and for monitoring pupils’ progress. 

The wider context for RE 

The UK has a rich heritage of culture and diversity. This is continuing today in 
an era of globalisation and an increasingly interdependent world. Religion and 
belief for many people forms a crucial part of their culture and identity. 

Religion and beliefs have become more visible in public life locally, nationally 
and internationally. The impact of religion on society and public life is 
constantly brought to public attention through extensive media coverage. The 
rapid pace of development in scientific and medical technologies and the 
environmental debate continue to present new issues which raise religious, 
moral and social questions. The internet enables learning and encourages 
participation in public discussion of issues in a new and revolutionary way.  

6
 Page 24



 

 

 

 

2 The importance of RE 

Religion and beliefs inform our values and are reflected in what we say and 
how we behave. RE is an important subject in itself, developing an individual’s 
knowledge and understanding of the religions and beliefs which form part of 
contemporary society. 

Religious education provokes challenging questions about the ultimate 
meaning and purpose of life, beliefs about God, the self and the nature of 
reality, issues of right and wrong, and what it means to be human. It can 
develop pupils’ knowledge and understanding of Christianity, of other principal 
religions, other religious traditions and worldviews that offer answers to 
questions such as these.  

RE also contributes to pupils’ personal development and well-being and to 
community cohesion by promoting mutual respect and tolerance in a diverse 
society. RE can also make important contributions to other parts of the school 
curriculum such as citizenship, personal, social, health and economic 
education (PSHE education), the humanities, education for sustainable 
development and others. It offers opportunities for personal reflection and 
spiritual development, deepening the understanding of the significance of 
religion in the lives of others – individually, communally and cross-culturally. 

Spiritual, moral, social and cultural development 

Section 78 (1) of the 2002 Education Act states that all pupils should follow a 
balanced and broadly based curriculum which ‘promotes the spiritual, moral, 
cultural, social, mental and physical development of pupils and of society, and 
prepares pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later 
life’. Learning about and from religions and beliefs, through the distinct 
knowledge, understanding and skills contained in RE within a broad-based 
curriculum, is essential to achieving these aims. Exploring the concepts of 
religion and belief and their roles in the spiritual, moral and cultural lives of 
people in a diverse society helps individuals develop moral awareness and 
social understanding. 

Personal development and well-being 

RE plays an important role in preparing pupils for adult life, employment and 
lifelong learning. It helps children and young people become successful 
learners, confident individuals and responsible citizens. It gives them the 
knowledge, skills and understanding to discern and value truth and goodness, 
strengthening their capacity for making moral judgements and for evaluating 
different types of commitment to make positive and healthy choices.  

Community cohesion 

RE makes an important contribution to a school’s duty to promote community 
cohesion. It provides a key context to develop young people’s understanding 
and appreciation of diversity, to promote shared values and to challenge 
racism and discrimination. Effective RE will promote community cohesion at 

7
 Page 25



 

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

                                            
   

 

each of the four levels outlined in DCSF guidance.3 

The school community – RE provides a positive context within which the 
diversity of cultures, beliefs and values can be celebrated and explored. 

	 The community within which the school is located – RE provides 
opportunities to investigate patterns of diversity of religion and belief 
and forge links with different groups in the local area. 

	 The UK community – a major focus of RE is the study of diversity of 
religion and belief in the UK and how this influences national life. 

	 The global community – RE involves the study of matters of global 
significance recognising the diversity of religion and belief and its 
impact on world issues. 

RE subject matter gives particular opportunities to promote an ethos of 
respect for others, challenge stereotypes and build understanding of other 
cultures and beliefs. This contributes to promoting a positive and inclusive 
school ethos that champions democratic values and human rights. 

In summary, religious education for children and young people: 

 provokes challenging questions about the meaning and purpose of 
life, beliefs, the self, issues of right and wrong, and what it means to be 
human. It develops pupils’ knowledge and understanding of 
Christianity, other principal religions, and religious traditions that 
examine these questions, fostering personal reflection and spiritual 
development 

 encourages pupils to explore their own beliefs (whether they are 
religious or non-religious), in the light of what they learn, as they 
examine issues of religious belief and faith and how these impact on 
personal, institutional and social ethics; and to express their responses. 
This also builds resilience to anti-democratic or extremist narratives 

 enables pupils to build their sense of identity and belonging, which 
helps them flourish within their communities and as citizens in a diverse 
society 

 teaches pupils to develop respect for others, including people with 
different faiths and beliefs, and helps to challenge prejudice  

 prompts pupils to consider their responsibilities to themselves and 
to others, and to explore how they might contribute to their 
communities and to wider society. It encourages empathy, generosity 
and compassion. 

RE has an important part to play as part of a broad, balanced and coherent 
curriculum to which all pupils are entitled. High quality learning experiences in 

3 http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/docbank/index.cfm?id=11635 

8
 Page 26



 

 

 

 

RE are designed and provided by careful planning through locally agreed 
syllabuses and in schools, taking into account the need to offer breadth of 
content, depth of learning and coherence between concepts, skills and 
content. 

9
 Page 27



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

                                            
  

 
  

3 The legal framework, rights and 
responsibilities 

The legal basis of RE in the curriculum of maintained schools  

Every maintained school in England must provide a basic curriculum (RE, sex 
education and the National Curriculum). This includes provision for RE for all 
registered pupils at the school (including those in the sixth form), except for 
those withdrawn by their parents (or withdrawing themselves if they are aged 
18 or over) in accordance with Schedule 19 to the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998. 

The key document in determining the teaching of RE is the locally agreed 
syllabus within the LA concerned (see 'Agreed syllabus', p.14). Schools 
designated as having a religious character are free to make their own 
decisions in preparing their syllabuses. LAs must, however, ensure that the 
agreed syllabus for their area is consistent with Section 375(3) of the 
Education Act 1996, which requires the syllabus to reflect that the religious 
traditions of Great Britain are in the main Christian whilst taking account of the 
teaching and practices of the other principal religions represented in Great 
Britain. 

Schools are not obliged to provide RE to pupils who are under compulsory 
school age (section 80(2)(a) of the Education Act 2002), although there are 
many instances of good practice where RE is taught to these pupils. Separate 
legislative provision on RE is made for maintained special schools. 
Regulations4 covering maintained special schools require them to ensure that, 
as far as practicable, a pupil receives RE. 

The role and responsibility of the LA  

Each LA must: 

 establish a permanent body called a standing advisory council on 
religious education (SACRE).5 LAs must appoint representatives to 
each of four committees, representing respectively: 

o	 Group A: Christian denominations and such other religions and 
religious denominations as, in the authority’s opinion, will 
appropriately reflect the principal religious traditions in the area  

o	 Group B: the Church of England 

o	 Group C: teacher associations 

o	 Group D: the LA 

4 Regulation 5A, Education (Special Educational Needs) (England) (Consolidation) 
Regulations 2001, SI 2001/3455
5 Section 390, Education Act 1996 

10
 Page 28



 

 
 

 

   

 

 
 

 

  

 

 

 

                                            
  
  

 
  
  

	 establish an occasional body called an agreed syllabus conference 
(ASC) to review the agreed syllabus for RE adopted by the LA.6 

This may have common membership with the SACRE but is a 
separate entity and must therefore be separately convened 

	 institute a review of its locally agreed syllabus within five years of 
the last review, and subsequently every five years after the 
completion of each further review 

	 appoint members of the committees represented on the ASC7 

	 ensure that the composition of Group A on a SACRE and 
Committee A on an ASC is broadly representative of the 
proportionate strengths of the denominations and religions in the 
area. The statutory provisions recognise that there will be 
occasions when the interest of efficiency overrides the requirement 
for directly proportionate representation8 

	 take all reasonable steps when appointing a person to be a 
member of a group on a SACRE or a committee of an ASC to 
represent any religion, denomination or association, to ensure the 
person appointed is representative of the religion, denomination or 
associations in question.9 

To ensure that people being considered for appointment to SACREs and 
ASCs are representative, it is normal for LAs to seek nominations from the 
organisations that have a right of representation on each of the groups or 
committees. While LAs should seek nominations separately for membership 
of SACREs and ASCs, as these are separate organisations with different 
functions, they may request that consideration be given by nominating bodies 
to nominating the same individuals for membership of both the SACRE and 
the ASC. There is nothing restricting membership of the LA group (SACRE) or 
committee (ASC) to elected members. LAs are free to include senior LA 
officers or others whom they consider can appropriately represent the 
authority. 

An LA should fund and support a SACRE and an ASC satisfactorily in line 
with the duty to constitute or convene each of these bodies and to enable 
them effectively to carry out their functions. 

An LA may: 

	 decide on matters to refer to its SACRE, including in particular methods 
of teaching, choice of teaching material and provision of teacher 
training10 

	 give its SACRE a role in the local statutory complaints procedure under 
Section 409 of the Education Act 1996. 

6 Schedule 31(2), Education Act 1996 
7 Schedule 31(4), Education Act 1996 
8 Section 390, Schedule 31(4), Education Act 1996 
9 Schedule 31(7), Education Act 1996; Section 392(2), Education Act 1996
10 Section 391(1)(a), Education Act 1996 

11
 Page 29



 

 

  

 

  

 
  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
  
  
  
 

 
 

 

The role and responsibility of a SACRE 

A SACRE must: 

	 advise the LA on RE given in accordance with the agreed 
syllabus, and on matters related to its functions, whether in 
response to a referral from the LA or as it sees fit11 

	 publish an annual report on its work and on actions taken by its 
representative groups, specifying any matters on which it has 
advised the LA, broadly describe the nature of that advice, and set 
out reasons for offering advice on matters not referred to it by the 
LA12 

	 send a copy of the report to the Qualifications and Curriculum 
Development Agency (QCDA)13 

	 meet in public unless confidential information is to be disclosed14 

	 make minutes of its meetings available for inspection at the LA’s 
offices (so far as the minutes relate to the parts of meetings that 
were open to the public). There are also provisions about public 
access to the agenda and reports for meetings.15 

A SACRE should: 

	 monitor the provision and quality of RE taught according to its 
agreed syllabus, together with the overall effectiveness of the 
syllabus 

	 provide advice and support on the effective teaching of RE in 
accordance with the locally agreed syllabus; provide advice to the 
LA and its schools on methods of teaching, the choice of teaching 
material and the provision of teacher training 

	 in partnership with its LA, consider whether any changes need to 
be made in the agreed syllabus or in the support offered to schools 
in the implementation of the agreed syllabus, to improve the quality 
teaching and learning of RE 

	 offer advice to the LA, and through the LA to schools, concerning 
how an existing agreed syllabus can be interpreted so as to fit in 
with a broad, balanced and coherent curriculum.  

A SACRE may: 

	 require its LA to review the agreed syllabus and, if after discussion 
a vote is taken on this matter, the LA group on SACRE is not 

11 Section 391(1)(a), Education Act 1996 
12 Section 391(6) and (7), Education Act 1996 
13 Section 391(10), Education Act 1996 
14 Religious Education (Meetings of Local Conferences and Councils) Regulations 1994, SI 
1994/1304
15 Religious Education (Meetings of Local Conferences and Councils) Regulations 1994, SI 
1994/1304 

12
 Page 30



 

 
  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 
  

 

  

 

 

                                            
  
  
  

 
  
  
  

 

entitled to cast a vote.16 A majority decision by the three other 
committees is sufficient 

	 decide to advise the LA on matters related to its functions to the 
LA – equally, an LA may decide to refer matters to its SACRE17 

	 co-opt members who are not members of any of the four groups18 

– such co-opted members may provide educational expertise, 
young peoples’ views or religious and non-religious views that 
reflect a diverse multi-cultural society. 

However, on any question to be decided by a SACRE, its constituent groups 
each have a single vote but co-opted members do not have a vote.19 

Decisions within a group do not require unanimity. Each group must regulate 
its own proceedings, including provision for resolving deadlock. Many 
SACREs have chosen to adopt a constitution to regulate their proceedings 
and ways of working. 

The role and responsibility of an ASC 

Every LA is required to establish and support an occasional body called an 
agreed syllabus conference (ASC).  

An ASC must:  

 produce and recommend to the LA an agreed syllabus for RE which is 
educationally sound and meets legal requirements – as indicated 
earlier, this process should take account of the illustrative primary 
programme of learning and secondary programme of study but is in no 
way bound by them 

 with any sub-committee it may appoint,20 meet in public, subject to 
exceptions in relation to confidentiality21 

  unanimously recommend a syllabus for adoption by the LA (each 
committee having a single vote) - there are provisions for the Secretary 
of State to become involved where an ASC is not unanimous22 

 include on any sub-committee at least one member of each of its 

constituent committees. 


An ASC may specify what must be taught through the locally agreed syllabus. 
In recommending a syllabus the ASC may not specify the amount of 
curriculum time that must be allocated to RE by schools, but they may provide 
an estimate of how much time their syllabus would require, to help schools to 
plan their timetable. 

16 Section 391(3), Education Act 1996 
17 Section 391(3), Education Act 1996 
18 Section 390(3), Education Act 1996 
19 Section 390(7) and Section 391(4), Education Act 1996 
20 Schedule 31(6), Education Act 1996 
21 Regulation 3, S1 1994/1304 
22 Schedule 31(10), Education Act 1996 

13
 Page 31



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

                                            
  
  
  

Membership of an ASC  

 An ASC is required to be made up of four committees23 (see ‘LA role’, 
p.10). 

 Committee A – Christian denominations and such other religions and 
religious denominations as, in the opinion of the LA, will appropriately 
reflect the principal religious traditions in the area; 

 Committee B - the Church of England 

 Committee C - teacher associations 

 Committee D - the LA. 

There is no legal provision for an ASC to include co-opted members, but it 
can seek the advice it considers appropriate from those it considers 
appropriate, to inform the development of effective RE provision in its area. 

The agreed syllabus 

The locally agreed syllabus is a statutory syllabus of RE prepared under 
Schedule 31 to the Education Act 1996 and adopted by the LA under that 
schedule. It must be followed in maintained schools without a designated 
denomination. 

Once adopted by the LA, the agreed syllabus sets out what pupils should be 
taught and can include the expected standards of pupils’ performance at 
different stages. 

Every locally agreed syllabus must reflect that the religious traditions of Great 
Britain are in the main Christian, while taking account of the teaching and 
practices of the other principal religions represented in Great Britain.24 

The law does not define what the principal religions represented in Great 
Britain are. ASCs can decide which are the principal religions represented in 
Great Britain, other than Christianity, to be included in their agreed syllabus.  

Agreed syllabuses in any community school and any foundation, voluntary-
aided or voluntary-controlled school without a religious character cannot 
require RE to be provided by means of any catechism or formulary which is 
distinctive of a particular religious denomination.25 

This prohibition does not extend to the study of catechisms and formularies.  

The RE curriculum in different types of schools 

In all maintained schools RE must be taught according to either the locally 
agreed syllabus or in accordance with the school’s designated religion or 
religious denomination, or in certain cases the trust deed relating to the 
school. 

23 Section 390(2) Education Act 1996; Schedule 31, para 4, Education Act 1996 
24 Section 375, Education Act 1996 
25 Para 3 of Schedule 19 to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

14
 Page 32



 

 

  

  

 
 

                                            
  
  

 

Community, foundation and voluntary-aided or voluntary-controlled 
schools without a religious character  

RE must be taught according to the locally agreed syllabus adopted by the LA 
by which the school is maintained. 

Foundation and voluntary-controlled schools with a religious character 

RE provision in foundation and voluntary-controlled schools with a religious 
character is to be provided in accordance with the locally agreed syllabus. 
However, where the parent of any pupil at the school requests that RE is 
provided in accordance with provisions of the trust deed relating to the school 
(or, where there is no provision in the trust deed, in accordance with the 
religion or denomination mentioned in the order designating the school as 
having a religious character), then the governors must make arrangements for 
securing that RE is provided to the pupil in accordance with the relevant 
religion for up to two periods a week unless they are satisfied that there are 
special circumstances which would make it unreasonable to do so.26 

Voluntary-aided schools with a religious character  

In these schools RE is to be determined by the governors and in accordance 
with the provisions of the trust deed relating to the school or, where there is 
no provision in the trust deed, with the religion or denomination mentioned in 
the order designating the school as having a religious character.  

However, where parents prefer their children to receive RE in accordance with 
the locally agreed syllabus, and they cannot reasonably or conveniently send 
their children to a school where the syllabus is in use, then the governing 
body must make arrangements for RE to be provided to the children within the 
school in accordance with the locally agreed syllabus unless they are satisfied 
that there are special circumstances which would make it unreasonable to do 
so. 

If the LA is satisfied that the governing body is unwilling to make such 
arrangements, the LA must make them instead.27 

Academies 

Academies are all-ability, state-funded schools managed by independent 
sponsors, established under Section 482 of the Education Act 1996. Some 
academies have a religious character.  

All academies are required, through their funding agreements, to teach RE. 
 For academies without a religious character, this will be the locally 

agreed syllabus 

26 Schedule 19(3), School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

27 Schedule 19(2), School Standards and Framework Act 1998 


15
 Page 33



 

 

 
 

         

 

 

 

 
  

 

  
 

                                            
 

  
 

 For denominational academies with a religious character (Church of 
England or Roman Catholic – but also Muslim and most Jewish 
academies), this will be in line with the denominational syllabus. 

 For non-denominational (such as Christian) faith academies this 
can be either of the above, depending on the wishes of the sponsor 
and what is agreed by Ministers.  
· 

Inspection 

Whereas RE in accordance with the locally agreed syllabus in maintained 
schools is inspected by Ofsted in the course of the periodic inspection of a 
school (under Section 5 of the Education Act 2005), it is for the governing 
body of foundation and voluntary schools with a religious character to ensure 
that they are inspected at regular intervals (Section 48 of the Education Act 
2005). The person who conducts the inspection is chosen by the governing 
body, or by the foundation governors in the case of a voluntary-controlled 
school, in consultation with a person prescribed in relation to the relevant 
designated religion or denomination. The person carrying out the inspection 
must prepare a report on the quality of denominational education. 

All academies are inspected on the quality of their RE by Ofsted as part of the 
normal inspections regime. All denominational faith academies are required to 
be inspected by their religious body on the quality of their RE.  

The responsibilities of governors and headteachers  

Governing bodies and headteachers, like LAs, must: 

 ensure that RE is provided as part of the school’s basic curriculum, 
following the locally agreed syllabus, unless they are schools with a 
religious character which are free to determine their own syllabus 

 provide an annual report to parents or carers giving brief particulars of 
progress and achievements in all subjects including RE.28 

RE provision and the workforce 

Community schools and foundation and voluntary schools with no religious 
character 

In community schools, foundation and voluntary schools without a religious 
character and community and foundation special schools no-one can be 
disqualified from employment on the grounds of their religious opinions or 
practices. No teacher can be discriminated against in terms of pay or 
promotion on the grounds of their religious opinions or practices or on the 
basis of whether or not they teach RE.29 

28 Regulation 6, Education (Pupil Information) (England) Regulations 2005, SI 2005/1437 
29 Sections 59(1) and (3) and 60(1) to (3), Standards and Framework Act 1998 

16
 Page 34



 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

                                            
 

 
 

 

Foundation and voluntary-controlled schools with a religious character  

Foundation or voluntary-controlled schools designated as having a religious 
character must have teachers who have been selected for their suitability to 
teach RE (‘reserved teachers’), but no more than one-fifth can be selected on 
that basis. No-one who is not a ‘reserved teacher’ can be disqualified from 
employment on the grounds of their religious opinions or practices. No 
teacher who is not a reserved teacher can be discriminated against in terms 
of pay or promotion on the grounds of their religious opinions or practices or 
on the basis of whether or not they teach RE. In dealing with reserved 
teachers, preference may be given when appointing or promoting teachers, or 
deciding about their remuneration, to teachers whose religious opinions or 
practices are in accordance with the tenets of that religious character or who 
are willing to teach RE at the school in accordance with those tenets. 

In appointing a headteacher for such a school (where the head is not also to 
be a reserved teacher), the person’s ability and suitability to preserve and 
develop the religious character of the school may be taken into account.30 

Voluntary-aided schools with a religious character 

In voluntary-aided schools designated as having a religious character 
preference may be given when appointing or promoting teachers, or deciding 
about their remuneration, to teachers whose religious opinions or practices 
are in accordance with the tenets of that religious character or who are willing 
to teach RE at the school in accordance with those tenets.31 

Certain teachers cannot be required to teach RE. The category extends to 
teachers in community and foundation and voluntary schools without a 
religious character, and teachers in foundation and voluntary-controlled 
schools with a religious character who are not 'reserved teachers'.32 

Parents and pupils 

Parents 

Parents and carers can obtain information on their child’s RE from the LA or 
school. They should receive information from the school on how their child is 
progressing in the subject. 

The parent of a pupil at a community, foundation or voluntary school has the 
right to request that the pupil be excused from all or part of the RE provided. 
They do not have to provide a reason and the school must comply with their 
request. See ‘The right of withdrawal’, p.27). 

30 Sections 60(1) and (4), School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
31 Sections 58–60, School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
32 Sections 59(1) and (3) and 60(1) to (3), School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

17
 Page 35



 

 

Pupils 

All pupils are entitled to receive RE as part of a broad and balanced 
curriculum at school which promotes their spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
development. 

Complaints 

Every school governing body and LA is required by law to have an accessible 
and easily understood route through which parents and others can make a 
complaint about school or other educational matters, including RE. A copy of 
the local complaints procedure should be available in each school and the 
school prospectus must make reference to it. LAs can seek advice from their 
SACREs in addressing complaints about RE. 

As far as RE is concerned, the complaints procedure of an LA should fully 
acknowledge the rights of the governing bodies of schools where they are 
responsible for RE (voluntary-aided and academies). The Apprenticeships, 
Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 includes provisions to enable, once 
commenced, the Local Government Ombudsman to investigate 
where individual issues at school level cannot be resolved. Legislation is 
planned to commence across a small number of LAs from April 2010, to 
include further LAs (around 10 to 15) in September 2010 and to roll out across 
all LAs from September 2011. 

18
 Page 36



 

 

 

  

                                            
 

 

  

4 Guidance on providing high-quality RE 

Good practice for LAs working in partnership with their 
SACREs and ASCs 

The partnership between LAs and their SACREs and ASCs is a key factor in 
the provision of effective RE for all pupils. A positive joint approach allows an 
LA to draw on the input of local religious groups and teachers as well as 
elected members. In many cases the partnership goes further than the agreed 
syllabus and makes an important contribution to the promotion of community 
cohesion. 

The SACRE Self-Evaluation Tool, produced in 2005, includes a useful 
description of an effective partnership.33 

Case study - LA/SACRE partnership 

An LA reviewed the workings of its SACRE and identified as a problem the 
mutual lack of communication. It also realised that it was not making the 
most of the role RE could play in promoting community cohesion. It 
became clear that the SACRE needed more support if it were to operate 
effectively. The LA appointed a senior officer to attend SACRE meetings 
and report back to other council bodies, including its race equality service. 
It also prioritised the provision of expert support and appointed an adviser 
for RE, recognising the need for someone who could work with schools on 
behalf of the SACRE to inspire and challenge. The LA wanted to develop 
RE’s contribution to community cohesion and encouraged this by 
supporting events for pupils such as a ‘Beliefs and the environment’ week, 
a young people’s SACRE and a ‘Religions and beliefs in our area’ website. 
The LA drew on SACRE expertise by inviting some of its members to give 
talks to the LA’s workforce on each of the faith and belief traditions 
represented. This included some traditions which were strong locally and 
others which were important from a national and global perspective. The 
approach encouraged the SACRE’s desire for inclusive membership, while 
taking seriously the need to ensure representation of the local community. 
The LA supported a SACRE annual outreach event in the form of a lecture 
and refreshments, and the development of an effective SACRE website. It 
also provided data for the SACRE to help it carry out the task of monitoring 
standards in RE. 

33 http://www.qcda.gov.uk/15623.aspx 

19 Page 37



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

  

 

 

Case study: Inter-faith and inter-LA collaboration 

A local authority in a diverse city decided to invite its SACRE to lead an inter-faith 
project. Tensions between different ethnic and religious groups were affecting life 
in the city and the surrounding towns and villages in neighbouring authorities. 
High levels of social and economic deprivation were a factor in some areas. 

The SACRE helped to establish an inter-faith centre with a remit to build 
resources and networks focusing on the contribution of RE to inter-faith dialogue 
and community involvement. The centre was managed jointly and shared as a 
community resource by the neighbouring LAs. Membership included 
representatives from the Sikh, Buddhist, Chinese and African local communities. 
Over time the centre developed resources and opened its doors to community 
groups, offering facilities for consultation and education for the whole community, 
including schools and providers of initial teacher training. The work of the centre 
made a positive impact on the quality of RE in local schools, as well as facilitating 
faith-led enterprise initiatives to stimulate the local economy. 

Case study: LA–SACRE consultation 

The SACRE regularly participates in its LA’s strategic development. In 2008, the 
SACRE was consulted about: 

 the Comprehensive Equalities Scheme (CES) 2008–11 

 the Community Strategy (SCS) 2007–20 

 the Regeneration Strategy 2007–20. 

Members’ views were sought on key short-, medium- and long-term issues to be 
addressed and they were able to respond individually or to link the council to their 
faith communities for wider consultation. SACRE members raised issues to be 
addressed, such as: 

 specific health, dietary and other needs of people of different faith (for 
example needs of women of different faiths to access a female 
doctor/dentist) 

 working with local hospitals on health-related issues, including how to deal 
with the death of a patient belonging to a particular faith 

 provision of burial sites 

 community safety 

 the particular needs of young people from their communities. 

The SACRE was involved in the development of the borough’s anti-bullying 
strategy in 2008, particularly in articulating the needs of young people being 
subjected to bullying at school because of their faith. In 2009, the views and 
perspectives of faith members of the SACRE were sought for a borough survey on 
a range of issues to do with community cohesion in the area. 

20
 Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

                                            
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

SACRE membership 

SACREs have many opportunities to engage all their members as 
stakeholders and ambassadors of RE. Increasingly, LAs and SACREs are 
adopting innovative good practice by co-opting representatives of pupils on 
their SACREs, or by having parallel young people’s SACREs. However, on 
any question to be decided by a SACRE, its constituent groups each have a 
single vote but co-opted members do not have a vote.34 Decisions within a 
group do not require unanimity. Each group must regulate its own 
proceedings, including provision for resolving deadlock. Many SACREs have 
chosen to adopt a constitution to regulate their proceedings and ways of 
working. 

In a highly effective SACRE: 

‘members will have a shared vision and understanding of their aims and 
purpose, and will seek to sustain their positive work in the light of changing 
needs and priorities. Meetings will be very purposeful and focused on the 
major priorities for improvement in schools. There will be a very effective 
partnership with the LA, and SACREs will be well supported by subject 
specialist advice, training and funding. They will be very well informed about 
the quality and provision for RE...in schools, and about wider LA and 
national priorities and developments. The process of reviewing, revising, 
implementing and evaluating the locally agreed syllabus will be very robust, 
ensuring that schools are well supported in their work.’ 

(SACREs and Self-evaluation – a guide, Ofsted, May 2005, HMI 2467) 

Case study: SACRE membership 

A SACRE had several vacancies that needed to be filled and decided to carry out 
a review of membership in partnership with the LA. This brought to attention the 
fact that there were significant religious communities in the area not currently 
represented on Group A, that there were no representatives of higher education 
on Group C, and that the voices of the young people most affected by the 
SACRE’s work, the pupils, were entirely absent. It was decided that in the 
interests of inclusion the membership should be expanded to include a Bahá’í 
representative and through co-option to include young people as well as a 
Humanist representative and somebody from a nearby university. Formal votes 
were very rarely necessary, and the SACRE and LA agreed that since the 
statutory requirement was for each group, not each individual representative, to 
have a single vote, there was no problem about these additional new members 
contributing to the decision making process. 

34 Section 390(7) and Section 391(4), Education Act 1996 

21 Page 39



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SACREs and community cohesion 

SACREs have an important role to play in promoting community cohesion, 
emphasised in the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) 
guidelines Face to face and side by side: A framework for partnership in our 
multi-faith society: ‘Effective RE can play a key part in promoting inter-faith 
understanding and dialogue and can address the prejudices brought about by 
a shallow knowledge of world religions and provides pupils with a safe forum 
for the discussion of controversial issues…SACREs, where properly 
supported by the LA, can act as powerful vehicles for building, appreciating 
and managing differences in beliefs and values in schools, education more 
widely and the local community. They are a partnership between faith 
communities in each local area and with the LA and schools. SACREs are 
predominantly focused on education but are also a statutory group that can be 
consulted on inter faith issues, act as sounding boards or work in partnership 
on broader initiatives.’ 

Case study: A SACRE and the curriculum 

One SACRE has supported teaching and learning in RE through a project 
involving a course for primary, secondary and special schools, which 
enables schools to provide recognition of progression for children and 
young people, matching the colours of the rainbow with the eight levels of 
the locally agreed syllabus for RE. This was a way of celebrating the 
achievement of children and young people that could be shared with and 
valued by parents and employers. 

ASCs and the agreed syllabus 

To ensure high quality RE, it is recommended that the agreed syllabus, as 
well as meeting legal requirements (see ‘Agreed syllabus’, p.14), should:  

	 provide a clear structure which users find easy to follow and which 
highlights the contribution of RE to the curriculum 

	 provide opportunities and examples to support the cross-curricular 
dimensions of the curriculum 

	 ensure that learning in RE has both continuity and progression 

	 have clear statements about expected standards and assessment 
arrangements 

	 provide clear guidance about the process of learning that should 
underpin the planning of RE 

	 provide appropriate levels of challenge for pupils of different ages and 
abilities - these should be progressive and demanding but realistic 

22
 Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 reflect curriculum developments nationally, such as the three aims of 
the curriculum, the use of key concepts, essential knowledge, key skills 
(including personal, learning and thinking skills) and the breadth of 
content, as set out in the RE programmes of study and learning.  

Breadth and depth in the agreed syllabus 

Breadth and depth in RE for all pupils can be achieved if the following are 
taken into account: 

	 Pupils should develop understanding of concepts and mastery of skills 
to make sense of religion and belief, at an appropriate level of 
challenge for their age. 

	 RE should provide opportunities for pupils to develop positive 
attitudes and values and to reflect and relate their learning in RE to 
their own experience. 

	 Building on the statutory requirements, it is recommended that 
there should be a wide ranging study of religion and belief across 
the key stages as a whole. 

	 Not all religions need to be studied at the same depth or in each 
key stage, but all that are studied should be studied in a way that is 
coherent and promotes progression. 

	 Pupils should have the opportunity to learn that there are those 
who do not hold religious beliefs and have their own philosophical 
perspectives, and subject matter should facilitate integration and 
promotion of shared values. 

	 The study of religion should be based on the legal requirements 
and provide an appropriate balance between and within 
Christianity, other principal religions, and, where appropriate other 
religious traditions and worldviews, across the key stages as a 
whole, making appropriate links with other parts of the curriculum 
and its cross-curricular dimensions. 

	 The breadth of study should take account of the four levels of 
community cohesion which all maintained schools are now obliged 
to promote. Decisions by SACREs and ASCs about the religions, 
other than Christianity, to be studied should take account of the 
balance of religion within: 

o	 the school community 

o	 the community within which the school is located 

o	 the UK community 

o	 the global community. 

23
 Page 41



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study: How an ASC might handle breadth and balance within an 
integrated curriculum 

	 Systematic study that looks at one or more religion and non
religious view in detail, by exploring some of its key concepts, 
such as beliefs, teaching and sources, or values and 
commitments. For example, a major unit in Year 5 on 
Christianity could include a study of how Christian worship and 
practice reflects the life and teachings of Jesus; or in a Year 9 
unit comparing Judaism and Humanism, examples could focus 
on the beliefs, teachings and sources that motivate them to take 
social action to improve the world. 

	 Thematic study that looks at a question, concept or issue and 
explores it in relation to one or more religions or beliefs, by 
enquiring into how and why the questions are answered. For 
example, a Year 4 unit on practices and ways of life could 
investigate how and why some people observe religious 
occasions at home, including Christian ways of marking Lent 
and Muslim ways of marking the month of Ramadan. A Year 8 
unit on environmental campaigners could look at the religious 
and non-religious values and commitments that lead some 
people to take action against roads, runways or the treatment of 
animals. A Year 11 unit on fair trade, just war or ending life could 
explore the beliefs and commitments of Buddhists and Bahá’ís.  

	 Cross-curricular study that uses key concepts or processes 
from two or more subjects to engage pupils in a challenging 
exploration. For example, a Year 6 unit could use the 
investigation processes in science and RE to generate questions 
about the concept of truth in relation to different accounts of the 
origin of the universe. A Year 7 unit could address the historical 
concept of causation, the citizenship concept of rights and the 
RE concept of identity to investigate migration, with specific 
reference to the Jain and Zoroastrian communities and the 
particular culture and values they have contributed to British 
society. 

By offering a balance of all three, RE syllabuses can promote pupils' 
understanding of the different impacts that religion and belief have on 
individuals and communities and enhance pupils' awareness of the kinds of 
questions raised by religion and ethics and how different religions answer 
them. 

24
 Page 42



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Checklist for an effective partnership between an LA and its 
SACRE/ASC 

	 Do the LA and its SACRE/ASC carry out their statutory duties? 

	 Is SACRE/ASC properly resourced and well supported by subject 
specialist advice and training? 

	 Do members of the SACRE/ASC have a shared vision and 
understanding of their aims and purpose, seeking to sustain their 
positive work in the light of changing needs and priorities?  

	 Are SACRE/ASC meetings purposeful and focused on the major 
priorities of improving the quality of RE in schools?  

	 Is the SACRE/ASC well informed about the quality of RE in schools 
and about wider LA and national priorities and developments 
affecting the subject? 

	 Has the LA adopted a high quality agreed syllabus that provides a 
good grounding for planning, teaching and learning in RE and 
enables the schools to deliver RE as part of a coherent curriculum? 

	 Is there an effective process of reviewing, revising, implementing, 
monitoring and evaluating the locally agreed syllabus? 

	 How far does the SACRE’s partnership with the LA enable it to help 
teachers and schools raise standards in RE and the quality of RE 
teaching? 

	 How far does the SACRE contribute effectively to the community 
cohesion agenda by supporting inclusion in schools and improving 
engagement within the community? 

25
 Page 43



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Good practice for school governors and 
headteachers 

All schools 

As well as meeting the legal requirements (see ‘Legal framework, rights and 
responsibilities’, p.10), schools should ensure that RE is:  

	 of a high standard, where expectations are clear to pupils, parents, 
teachers, governors, employers and the public 

	 coherent and shows progression, particularly across the transitions 
of the key stages and post 16 

	 contributing to the school’s duty to promote community cohesion 
and high standards of achievement 

	 well understood by the school community, who have confidence in 
the school’s provision and achievement. 

Every Child Matters 

Schools should consider how RE contributes to the five outcomes of Every 
Child Matters by: 

	 offering information on and insights into the impact of beliefs, 
practices and values, and whether they might be healthy or 
unhealthy 

	 allowing pupils to explore the value of safety in relation to attitudes 
to authority, property, relationships and the impact of ideas, and to 
develop social skills and empathy for others in considering these 
issues 

	 challenging pupils in ways that stimulate them and give them an 
enjoyment of learning, a sense of achievement leading to better 
motivation, and a belief in their capacity to respond well to people 
and ideas 

	 fostering a sense of self-awareness, belonging and identity that 
manifests itself in positive participation in school and community life 

	 raising issues of immediate and future relevance to pupils’ 
economic well-being, for example attitudes to wealth and poverty, 
skills for living and working in a diverse society, the ethics of war 
and peace, sustaining the planet, and the use of money. 

The responsibilities of governors and headteachers 

As well as fulfilling their legal obligations, the governing body and head-
teacher should also make sure that: 

26
 Page 44



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 all pupils make progress in achieving the learning objectives of the 
RE curriculum 

	 the subject is well led and effectively managed and that standards 
and achievement in RE and the quality of the provision are subject 
to regular and effective self-evaluation 

	 those teaching RE are suitably qualified and trained in the subject 
and have regular and effective opportunities for CPD 

	 teachers are aware of RE’s contribution in developing pupils’ 
understanding of religion and belief and its impact as part of the 
duty to promote community cohesion 

	 where appropriate, pupils have opportunities to take courses 
leading to an accredited qualification in the subject  

	 teachers explore how new pedagogies and technology can be fully 
utilised to support RE learning objectives and promote community 
cohesion 

	 clear information is provided for parents on the RE curriculum and 
the right to withdraw 

	 teachers are aware that they do not have to teach RE unless 
specifically appointed to do so 

	 RE is resourced, staffed and timetabled so that the school can fulfil 
its legal obligations on RE and pupils can make good progress  

	 where there are insufficient teachers in a school who are prepared 
to teach RE, the headteacher ensures that pupils receive their 
entitlement to RE. In these circumstances, headteachers might 
wish to seek advice from their LA or SACRE. 

Teachers and the school workforce 

A well-trained and confident workforce is crucial in ensuring good-quality RE. 
In addition to RE specialists, other teachers or members of the children’s 
workforce can contribute to the teaching of RE, regardless of their personal 
beliefs. 

School action plans should identify the CPD needs of staff in relation to RE. 
Depending on their status, schools may receive advice on staff development 
issues from the SACRE, LA advisory staff and/or other sources. The same 
bodies may offer training courses for serving teachers and other opportunities 
for professional development, as may a range of other providers. 

Managing the right of withdrawal 

Schools should ensure that parents who want to withdraw their children from 
RE are aware of the RE syllabus and that it is relevant to all pupils and 
respects their own personal beliefs. They should be made aware of its 
learning objectives and what is covered in the RE curriculum and should be 
given the opportunity to discuss this, if they wish. The school may also wish to 

27
 Page 45



 

 

 
  

                                            
  

review such a request each year, in discussion with the parents. 

However, the right of withdrawal does not extend to other areas of the 
curriculum when, as may happen on occasion, spontaneous questions on 
religious matters are raised by pupils or there are issues related to religion 
that arise in other subjects such as history or citizenship. (See ‘Legal 
framework, rights and responsibilities’, p.10, for the legal requirements.) 

The use of the right to withdraw should be at the instigation of parents (or 
pupils themselves if they are aged 18 or over), and it should be made clear 
whether it is from the whole of the subject or specific parts of it. No reasons 
need be given. 

Parents have the right to choose whether or not to withdraw their child from 
RE without influence from the school, although a school should ensure 
parents or carers are informed of this right and are aware of the educational 
objectives and content of the RE syllabus. In this way, parents can make an 
informed decision. Where parents have requested that their child is 
withdrawn, their right must be respected, and where RE is integrated in the 
curriculum, the school will need to discuss the arrangements with the parents 
or carers to explore how the child’s withdrawal can be best accommodated. If 
pupils are withdrawn from RE, schools have a duty to supervise them, though 
not to provide additional teaching or to incur extra cost. Pupils will usually 
remain on school premises. 

Where a pupil has been withdrawn, the law provides for alternative 
arrangements to be made for RE of the kind the parent wants the pupil 
to receive.35 This RE could be provided at the school in question, or the pupil 
could be sent to another school where suitable RE is provided if this is 
reasonably convenient. If neither approach is practicable, outside 
arrangements can be made to provide the pupil with the kind of RE that the 
parent wants, and the pupil may be withdrawn from school for a reasonable 
period of time to allow them to attend this external RE.  

Outside arrangements for RE are allowed as long as the LA is satisfied that 
any interference with the pupil’s attendance at school resulting from the 
withdrawal will affect only the start or end of a school session.  

If the school is a secondary school and parents have withdrawn a pupil from 
RE provided at the school and asked for alternative RE to be provided in 
accordance with the tenets of a particular religion or denomination, then the 
LA must either: 

	 provide facilities for the alternative RE to be given at the school unless 
there are special circumstances which would make it unreasonable to 
do so 

or 

	 agree to outside arrangements being made as long as no financial 
burden falls on the LA or school as a result of these arrangements. 

35 Section 71(3), School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

28
 Page 46



 

 
  

 

 

                                            
  

 

 

In the case of a pupil at a maintained boarding school where a sixth former, or 
the parents of a pupil below the sixth form, requests that the pupil be allowed 
to receive RE in accordance with the tenets of a particular religion or 
denomination outside school hours, the governing body must make 
arrangements to give the pupil a reasonable opportunity to do so. This could 
involve making facilities available at the school, but any such arrangements 
cannot be funded out of the school’s budget or by the LA.36 

Case study: Managing the right of withdrawal  

In one school, parents approached the head teacher with a request to 
discuss whether or not to withdraw their child from RE. The head teacher 
met them and showed them a copy of the locally agreed syllabus, together 
with the school’s policy and scheme of work for RE. The parents were also 
invited to join an RE lesson to see how the school’s policy worked in 
practice. This provided reassurance that the approach being adopted was 
one of genuine open enquiry which would respect the beliefs of all children. 
As a result, the parents decided not to exercise their right of withdrawal. 

In another school, in Year 7 RE is taught in blocked topics as part of an 
integrated studies programme along with English, history, geography and 
citizenship. The teachers discussed the programme with the parents whose 
child had been withdrawn from RE and agreed to vary some of the work to 
accommodate the parents’ wishes. The pupil took a full and active part in 
the lessons but was provided with slightly modified resources and tasks. As 
a result, the benefits of the integrated approach to teaching RE and the 
rights of the parents were both protected.  

In a primary school, a number of parents from a local Jehovah’s Witness 
community expressed a wish to withdraw their children from RE. The 
headteacher met with representatives from the community, including some 
of its leaders, to explain the school’s approach to the subject. As a result of 
the meeting, the school developed a relationship of trust with the 
community and was able to identify those aspects of the RE programme 
which the parents were happy for the children to join and those from which 
the children would be withdrawn – mainly around the celebration of 
Christmas. 

36 Section 71, School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

29 Page 47



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Checklist for governors and headteachers 

	 Do all pupils make progress in achieving the learning objectives of 
the RE curriculum? 

	 Is RE well led and effectively managed? 

	 Are standards, achievement and quality of provision in RE regularly 
and effectively self-evaluated? 

	 Are those teaching RE suitably qualified and trained in the subject? 
Do they have regular and effective opportunities for CPD? 

	 Are teachers aware of RE’s contribution to developing pupils’ 
understanding of religion and belief and its impact as part of the 
duty to promote community cohesion? 

	 Where appropriate, do pupils have opportunities to take courses 
leading to an accredited qualification in the subject? 

	 Is clear information provided for parents on the RE curriculum and 
the right to withdraw? 

	 Are teachers aware that they do not have to teach RE? 

	 Is RE resourced, staffed and timetabled in a way that means the 
school can fulfill its legal obligations on RE and pupils can make 
good progress? 

	 Where there are insufficient teachers in a school who are prepared 
to teach RE, does the headteacher ensure that pupils receive their 
RE entitlement? 

Checklist for managing the right of withdrawal 

	 Is the school careful to ensure that RE is of educational value to all 
pupils, whatever their belief background, thus reducing the likelihood of 
parental/carer requests for withdrawal? 

	 Does the school ensure that the nature, objectives and content of RE are 
shared with parents?  

	 Are parents or carers notified about plans for RE as part of the curriculum 
for the coming session for their child’s class? 

	 Does the school have a procedure in place for parents or carers who 
want to withdraw children from RE? 

	 Does the organisation of the curriculum allow parents to exercise the right 
of withdrawal? 

	 What practical implications arise from a request by parents to withdraw a 
child from RE and how might they be addressed? 

	 Are all those who teach RE aware of the school’s procedures? 

	 Are all teachers aware of their own right not to have to teach RE? 

30
 Page 48



 

 

6 Good practice for people who manage, plan, 
teach and support RE 

Provision of RE in the curriculum 

The legal requirements for the provision of RE in maintained schools do not 
specify any particular time allocation or how the curriculum should be 
organised. Schools are not required to teach subjects separately or to use 
their given titles, though there can be advantages in doing so. One subject 
can also be combined with another, or it can be taught in separate lessons, or 
a mixture of provision used, depending on the objectives of the curriculum 
being followed. 

Schools should weigh the advantages of regular and coherent provision, say 
every week, against those of more flexible provision when more time can be 
allocated in one week, term or year than in another - as long as the 
programme of study required by the agreed syllabus is covered. They need to 
ensure that their RE provision includes a distinct body of knowledge and 
enables all pupils to make effective progress in achieving the RE learning 
outcomes. Schools also need to evaluate the effectiveness of their provision 
as part of their own self-evaluation process. 

Each school decides which subjects to give more time to and, within a 
subject, which attitudes or skills to emphasise. The priority or emphasis might 
apply across the key stage, to particular year groups, to groups of pupils or to 
individuals. As well as meeting statutory requirements a school can maximise 
the contribution RE makes to raising standards and achievement - for 
example, through qualifications undertaken by pupils contributing to 
performance data at GCSE and A level. 

Curriculum planning in RE 

The principles of good planning apply to RE as much as to any other subject 
in the curriculum. Planning for RE should ensure all pupils have a high quality, 
coherent and progressive experience of the subject. Schools are encouraged 
to use models of delivery which best suit the needs of the pupils, meet the 
requirements of the curriculum, and contribute to the cross-curricular 
dimensions of the wider curriculum. The statutory syllabus should therefore 
not only specify the RE curriculum to be taught in schools, but also be 
sufficiently flexible to enable schools to match the pattern of provision to the 
needs of pupils and be an integral part of the wider curriculum. It is 
recommended that pupils have the opportunity to gain public recognition of 
their achievement in RE. In deciding on any particular model of curriculum 
delivery, it is important to make provision for the parental right of withdrawal. 

When schools are planning their RE provision, they need to consider three 
key questions: 

31
 Page 49



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
 

  
 

	 What are we trying to achieve? 

	 How will we organise the learning? 

	 How will we measure success? 

Creative curriculum planning 

Many schools have been exploring creative and flexible ways of providing RE. 
For example, at one school, primary pupils study stories and myths that 
introduce them to concepts of good and evil, fear, courage, conflict and 
justice, in ways that are safe, enjoyable and yet exciting. All religions and 
beliefs provide such stories. Listening to these and other tales, exploring their 
meanings and responding to the questions they raise can contribute to young 
children’s mental and emotional well-being. One six-year-old, for instance, 
said: 

‘I like the story of Rama and Sita, and painting hands. I like the part when the 
monster goes away.’37 

To help pupils lead safer, healthier and more fulfilled and productive lives, the 
study of issues such as crime and punishment, sex and relationships, 
addiction and dependency, diet and body image can give secondary pupils a 
stronger understanding of the reasons for criminal or harmful behaviour and 
its impact on individuals and society. One 16-year-old said: 

‘RE is one of my favourite subjects and the reason for that is that most of the 
time in lessons we discuss issues that make me look inside myself and think 
very deeply about the world, behaviour, my personality and my beliefs. I have 
learnt not only the facts about different religions but I have learnt a lot about 
myself.’ 

Good-practice examples include schools providing opportunities for: 

	 exploring controversial religious issues in the modern world – 
including media misrepresentations of religion 

	 representatives of ‘seldom heard’ religious communities to work 
with the school and develop confidence that their traditions are 
respected 

	 pupils with strong commitments to share their experience in a safe 
context and see that their religion or belief is valued and respected 

	 learning outside the classroom and inviting visitors to it, giving 
pupils the chance to interact with different religions and non
religious groups locally 

	 theme days or assemblies related to, for example, Holocaust 
Memorial Day – often working in partnership with other subjects, 
most notably citizenship. 

37 Unless otherwise stated, the quotations from pupils in this section are reproduced courtesy 
of the National Association of Teachers of Religious Education (NATRE). 

32
 Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Examples of particularly effective practice include: 

	 One headteacher saw RE as a context for analysing patterns of 
religious diversity in the area, forging links with local mosques and 
between mosques and local churches, and using these links to 
develop extended school and family learning opportunities. 

	 A school with a mainly white mono-cultural intake twinned with a 
school with a high percentage of pupils from the Muslim tradition to 
extend the curriculum enrichment opportunities for RE.  

	 Some schools use focused RE theme days to extend opportunities 
for pupils to explore cultural diversity in more depth, inviting in 
visitors, such as Indian dancers. 

	 A school with a mainly white ethnic intake investigated the range of 
parents with ‘global’ experience and invited them to contribute to 
RE and beyond. Another built links through a local inter-faith 
network project. 

Schools should encourage pupils to play a full part in their own learning in RE, 
for example: 

	 as learners, by deploying skills, asking questions and exploring 
answers 

	 as individuals, using their own experience and background to 
reflect on questions of truth and morality and deeper meanings of 
life and death 

	 as citizens, promoting debate and dialogue, celebrating diversity, 
taking appropriate action, putting principles into action, for example 
as members of young person’s SACREs. 

Case study: RE curriculum planning 

One primary school decided to experiment with an alternative model of 
delivery for RE. Previously they had taught six half-term units of RE in 45
minute lessons every week throughout the year. They moved to a model of 
fewer but more concentrated units in which RE was taught for up to six 
hours per week in two- or three-week blocks. This provided more sustained 
challenging learning and enabled the teachers to make much stronger links 
between RE and other areas of the curriculum, especially literacy. The 
quality of learning in RE improved significantly and pupils were able to take 
much more responsibility for their learning. 

33
 Page 51



 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

                                            
   

 

 Case study: Reorganising the curriculum 

In one secondary school, a decision was taken to re-organise the Year 7 
curriculum for those pupils who arrived at the school with a low prior 
attainment and weaker basic skills. RE is taught with English, the other 
humanities subjects and ICT by two primary-trained teachers as part of an 
integrated studies programme. Elements of RE are taught in blocked units 
for up to six periods per week for two or three weeks, allowing strong links 
to be forged with literacy and the development of personal, learning and 
thinking skills (PLTS). The provision is leading to some outstanding 
practice in the teaching of RE. Very imaginative planning, careful 
preparation and the skilful interlinking of work developing literacy, oracy 
and key skills with RE is resulting in some high quality group work, 
discussion, and oral presentation by the pupils. 

RE and the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 

While the statutory requirement for RE does not extend to children under 
compulsory school age, it can form a valuable part of the educational 
experience of children in the EYFS. It can contribute particularly to 

 personal, social and emotional development 

 communication, language and literacy 

 knowledge and understanding of the world 

 creative development.38 

RE post 14 

As RE remains statutory beyond the age of 14 for all pupils in schools, 
including pupils in the sixth form (except those withdrawn from lessons), it is 
important that it continues to be part of a coherent curriculum that enables 
them to draw on their own values and beliefs in making independent decisions 
and choices, as they prepare for adult life. For provision beyond the age of 14, 
there is an illustrative programme of study for Key Stage 4 in the revised 
secondary curriculum published by the Qualifications and Curriculum 
Development Agency (QCDA). 

RE for this age group should, among other aims, be relevant to pupils’ needs 
and to the rest of their curriculum, and provide opportunities for pupils to:  

	 reflect on, express and justify their own opinions in light of their 
learning about and from religion and their study of religious, 
philosophical, moral and spiritual questions 

38 http://nationalstrategies.standards.dcsf.gov.uk/eyfs/taxonomy/33692/33658/33694/46384 

34
 Page 52



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 develop their own values and attitudes in order to recognise their 
rights and responsibilities in light of their learning about and from 
religions and beliefs 

	 relate their learning to the wider world, gaining a sense of personal 
autonomy in preparation for adult life 

	 develop skills that are useful in a wide range of careers and in adult 
life generally, especially skills of critical enquiry, creative problem-
solving, and communication in a variety of media. 

Particular care also needs to be taken if pupils are following alternative 
curriculum pathways, for example college-based vocational programmes, 
where pupils at Key Stage 4 or in a school sixth form may find themselves 
studying partly in a school and partly in a college of further education. It 
remains the responsibility of the school where a pupil is registered to ensure 
that the pupil receives their entitlement (except where their right of withdrawal 
has been exercised). Schools should ensure that appropriate provision for RE 
is made, and that it is coherent and of good quality. The school where a pupil 
is registered may arrange with a further education college for the required RE 
to be provided, wholly or partly, at the college. It may be possible for aspects 
of statutory RE to be covered in the context of another subject or qualification 
– for example, GCSE, AS level, A level, or the Diploma in Humanities and 
Social Sciences.  

In deciding on any particular model of curriculum delivery it is important to 
take account of the parental right of withdrawal. 

Case study: RE post 14 

One school was faced with the problem that pupils on college-based 
courses were missing every other RE lesson in a fortnight’s timetable. This 
fragmented their learning and severely limited their progress in the subject. 
For the RE experience to be more coherent, the school decided to make 
alternative provision for this group of pupils by organising a series of 
additional RE-related activities. 

Qualifications 

There is no legal requirement that pupils must sit public examinations, but it is 
increasingly the case that pupils from age 14 onwards are given the 
opportunity to have their learning and achievement in RE publicly recognised 
through accredited qualifications. Since 1996 the number of pupils gaining 
qualifications in ‘religious studies’ (RS) has quadrupled. The development of 
GCSE (Short Course) RS has revolutionised RE in key stage 4 in many 
schools. Similarly, the numbers of pupils taking A level RS has more than 
doubled in the past 10 years, since the introduction of AS level RS.  

ASCs should include in their agreed syllabuses a requirement that RE should 

35
 Page 53



 

 

  

 

 

                                            
  
  

be taught at the following ages through accredited qualifications so that 
schools provide: 

	 for all pupils aged 14 to 16, at least one course in RE or RS leading 
to an approved qualification39 

	 for all pupils aged 16 to 19, courses in RE or RS leading to an 
approved qualification40 that represents progression from 14-16. 

Accredited courses include courses leading to qualifications with the title 
‘religious studies’ and other approved courses that require the study of 
religion and ethics. The introduction of Diplomas offers a unique opportunity to 
identify and contribute to pupils’ spiritual and moral development, and make 
appropriate links with the study of religion. 

39 Section 96, Learning and Skills Act 2000 
40 Section 96, Learning and Skills Act 2000 

36
 Page 54



 

 

 

 

 

 

7 Support for RE 

Religion and belief communities 

Members of religions and belief organisations can make a real contribution to 
RE both locally and nationally. By working with people whose beliefs they may 
or may not share in an atmosphere of respect and mutual understanding, faith 
and belief representatives can act as models of community cohesion in action. 
They may also contribute a greater awareness of inter-religious perspectives, 
as well as representing their own individual traditions. 

At a national level, representatives of different denominations, religions and 
communities of belief can contribute to the continuing improvement of RE. 
They might, for example, take part in consultation on RE matters through 
membership of national bodies, work with others to produce resources such 
as web-based materials for school use, act as consultants to publishers and 
respond to enquiries from teachers about their tradition.  

At a local level, representatives of religious and other interests can serve as 
formal or co-opted members of SACREs and ASCs. This gives them 
opportunities to help make sure the RE curriculum deals accurately and 
sensitively with their own religious or other perspective, and that any concerns 
about RE are raised and considered. They may, for example, raise awareness 
of sensitive issues when a SACRE is giving advice to schools on resources 
recommended for use in RE lessons. Membership of a SACRE or an ASC 
gives community members a chance to raise and respond to questions from 
their own and others’ communities as well as to contribute to wider public 
understanding of their beliefs, practices and values. 

Case study: Religion and belief communities 

Members of a Shi’a Muslim community wanted to contribute to a better public 
understanding of Islam and Muslims. They were already members of the local SACRE, 
since the LA had from its inception realised that both Sunni and Shi’a Islam were quite 
strongly represented in its city. The imam (a religious minister at the mosque) was invited 
to attend key meetings of the ASC writing group and to make comments on draft material. 

He was keen to develop positive relations further and offered the Islamic Centre as a 
venue for a SACRE meeting. Working with the local RE adviser, the community hosts a 
number of visits from schools, including some by classes of pupils and others by groups of 
teachers as professional development activities. The imam consistently tries to make sure 
the visits are well adapted to the age or stage concerned, by having a team of appropriate 
hosts – for example a mother of young children who could receive visits from younger 
primary children. He also developed PowerPoint presentations on the religious life and 
activities of the community, adapted to different audiences, along with handouts and 
materials for teachers to take away. The community makes great efforts for visitors to feel 
welcome and provides refreshments for all who come. Members of the Islamic Centre 
team also go as visiting speakers to schools, including some in surrounding rural areas 
where there are no Muslim pupils or residents. The Islamic Centre holds an open day 
annually and invites adults in a variety of public service roles, neighbours and work 
colleagues and members of other local religious groups, so that they can experience the 
life of the mosque and ask questions about its community. The community also willingly 
welcomes and helps RE consultants to gather material for an education website about 
Shi’a Islam. 

37
 Page 55



 

 

 

Learning outside the classroom (LOtC) 

Local members of religions and belief groups have an enriching contribution 
to make in hosting visits at local centres, places of worship or sacred spaces. 
Schools value the opportunity of bringing learning to life by giving pupils 
chances to meet and talk with people from the tradition they are studying, ask 
questions, experience an unfamiliar religious and cultural environment, and 
meet individuals who can respond to their thoughts and ideas. These visits 
contribute to pupils’ spiritual development as well as giving many 
opportunities for exciting cross-curricular learning. Some centres have annual 
open days or events for the whole community, so that adults as well as pupils 
can enjoy the opportunity to find out about a new perspective.  

Providers hosting such visits can be awarded the Learning Outside the 
Classroom Quality Badge. The badge scheme means schools and other 
users can more easily identify organisations that offer good-quality learning 
opportunities, but it will also give providers a developmental framework 
through which to evaluate and develop their own learning provision. 

Individuals or small teams may also be invited into schools to speak, answer 
questions or take part in panel discussions. Ideally, community members who 
take on such roles are those who have some experience of the age group 
concerned and who can work with the group’s teacher to plan a visit which will 
marry well with the pupils’ programme of learning. They will also need to be 
reasonably confident about answering questions at a level that pupils can 
understand. Visitors should not replace regular teachers of RE.  

38
 Page 56



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study: LOtC: Widening horizons of understanding 

This is how one school prepared and organised RE learning outside the 
classroom. 

What were we trying to achieve?  

 To build on the school’s work on community cohesion. 

 To enrich and encourage pupils to learn from different religions, 
beliefs, values and traditions while exploring their own beliefs 
and questions of meaning. 

Who went? How many? 

Fifty children from years 3 and 4 took part in a series of visits, accompanied 
by three teachers. The school has a specialist hearing-impaired unit and 
support staff also joined the trip to enable all children to benefit in full. 

Preparation: 

The school includes children from many different faiths, cultures and ethnic 
backgrounds, who are used to working and learning together in school. 
However, the children have little external experience outside their own 
circle. There was detailed pre-visit preparation so that children were clear 
about behaviour and etiquette in the mandir (Hindu temple) and were ready 
with questions and ideas. 

How did we organise the learning? 

The Hindu faith tutor greeted the children at the mandir. She helped pupils 
get a feel for the sacred space and showed them some of the colourful and 
symbolic deities. With some structured guidance, children then had time to 
explore for themselves. In the final session they drew up questions in small 
groups and discussed similarities and differences compared with the other 
places they had visited. Just before they left the mandir, as a gift, those 
pupils who wanted to were given a taste of prasad. A key aim of the 
Learning Outside the Classroom manifesto is to ’make learning more 
engaging and relevant‘. Children put this in their own way: ‘You get more 
education than sitting in classrooms. You get to interact with everything.’ 

What was the impact of the experience? 

The life and symbolism of a Hindu temple provided much stimulation and 
children were able to reflect on the meaning of the deities: ‘I like the one 
with Rama, Sita and Lakshman because it shows that people are one big 
community.’ Another pupil was inspired by Hanuman: ‘I liked the god who 
looks like a monkey because it was about helping other people and it made 
me think about helping others.’ The inter-faith tutor made the point that, 
‘You can get so much more from a place that is live and running than you 
can in a classroom. The impact on the children today will be fresh for ever, 
I hope!’ 

Follow up: Pupils were able to compare the faiths and cultures they had 
experienced. They noted the variety of customs, the different significance 
of sacred texts, and how gender roles were fulfilled in different ways. 

39
 Page 57



 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

  
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Checklist for people who manage, plan, teach and support RE 

 What implications do the school’s ethos, values and aims have for 
the provision of RE? For example, the school’s specialist status, 
religious character, or the nature of the school’s community. 

 What about the school’s overall curriculum priorities? Are statutory 
requirements for RE being met? Is RE’s contribution in terms of raising 
standards and achievement being taken into account?  

 Will RE be taught separately, be combined with other subjects, or 
both? 

 Will RE be taught every week, term or year in the key stage? Is the 
programme of study required by the agreed syllabus properly met? Is 
the provision evaluated as part of the school’s self-evaluation process? 

 What about curriculum design? Does the RE curriculum ensure an 
appropriate balance between RE-led units, whether systematic or 
thematic, and cross-curricular units? 

 How will the organisation of the RE curriculum be adapted to suit 
individual pupils with different abilities and needs? For example, 
the needs of the most able pupils can be met by accelerating their 
learning, and the needs of less high-achieving pupils can be met by 
reinforcement techniques. 

 How will the design of the RE curriculum help pupils to make a 
smooth transfer from one key stage to the next and to make 
steady progress within a key stage? For example, through the 
provision of bridging units to support transition from key stage 2 to 3. 

 What about curriculum enrichment? What might need to be added to 
the RE curriculum to enrich pupils’ learning in terms of, for example, 
fieldwork, LOtC, and special focus days? 

Checklist for monitoring and evaluating RE provision 

 Have RE curriculum decisions been based on the principles of 
effective planning? Has there been sound application of these 
principles? 

 Can the parental right of withdrawal be accommodated, where 
necessary? Does the model of curriculum delivery take into account 
how provision might be adapted? 

 Do pupils value and recognise the contribution RE makes to their 
understanding - of different communities and ways of life, and to the 
concept of diversity? 

 Do pupils have real opportunities to explore and gain first-hand 
experience of religious and cultural diversity? 

40
 Page 58



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

   

 
 

 Does the school help pupils to deepen their understanding - of their 
own beliefs and values? Of other people’s? 

 Does RE provide a context to build relationships with the local 
communities - including those groups with whom it is more difficult to 
forge links? 

 Within the school, does RE provide a voice for religious and other 
minority groups? Does it develop a culture of mutual understanding 
and respect? 

 Does the school treat religion and belief seriously? Does it model 
ways of building respect? 

 Does the school know enough about the diversity of religion and 
ethical perspectives within the local community? Does it explore 
ways of making links with those communities? 

 In a largely mono-cultural school, how well is RE working to foster 
a broader awareness of cultural and religious diversity?  

Checklist for planning RE post 14 

 Do the pupils have opportunities to: 

o	 reflect on, express and justify their own opinions and beliefs 
about religion and religious, philosophical, moral and spiritual 
questions? 

o	 develop their own values and attitudes so that they can 
recognise their rights and responsibilities in light of their learning 
about religion and belief? 

o	 relate their learning to the wider world, gaining a sense of 
personal autonomy in preparation for adult life? 

o	 develop skills that are useful in a wide range of careers and in 
adult life generally, especially skills of critical enquiry, creative 
problem-solving, and communication in a variety of media? 

o	 have their achievements in RE recognised by an approved 
qualification? 

 If the pupil is to study RE wholly or partly in a further education 
college: 

o	 has appropriate provision been made? 

o	 is it coherent and of good quality? 

 Has a parent or pupil exercised their right of withdrawal? Has this 
been taken into account in RE planning? 

41
 Page 59



 

  

 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 Further references 

Professional RE associations 

There are many professional associations dedicated to the provision of high-
quality RE in English schools. The details of these associations are listed in 
the RE Directory (www.theredirectory.org.uk). Associations include: 

	 National Association of Teachers of RE (www.natre.org.uk) 

	 Association of RE Advisers, Inspectors and Consultants 

(www.areiac.org.uk)
 

	 Association of University Lecturers in Religion and Education 

(www.aulre.org.uk)
 

	 National Association of SACREs (www.nasacre.org.uk) 

The Religious Education Council 

All major faith communities and professional RE associations are members of 
the Religious Education Council of England and Wales (REC) 
(www.religiouseducationcouncil.org). This body acts as an umbrella group to 
represent the diverse groups and interests of the subject, and works in 
partnership with the DCSF. Members include academic and professional 
associations, along with the main faith communities of faith found in the UK. In 
addition to Christian denominations, these include Baha’is, Buddhists, Hindus, 
Jains, Jews, Muslims, Sikhs, Zoroastrians and the British Humanist 
Association. 

Government agencies 

Qualifications and Curriculum Development Agency 

The Qualifications and Curriculum Development Agency (QCDA) 
(www.qcda.gov.uk) works with the DCSF to develop and deliver the 
Government’s policy on qualifications, curriculum and assessment. Core 
responsibilities for RE include: 

	 working with stakeholders and strategic partners, including 
standing advisory councils on religious education (SACREs) and 
faith and belief communities, to develop and review the curriculum, 
so that pupils in every school have access to a high-quality 
curriculum - this includes receiving SACRE annual reports  

	 developing and reviewing the Qualifications and Credit Framework 
(QCF), including GCSEs, A levels and the 14 to 19 Diploma 

	 providing guidance and support for religious education within the 
context of the wider curriculum. 

42
 Page 60



 

  

 

 

 

 

The Training and Development Agency 

The Training and Development Agency (TDA) (www.qcda.gov.uk) supports 
training in RE, during initial teacher training (ITT) and through continuing 
professional development (CPD), by providing access to specialist subject 
knowledge for ITT tutors and mentors. This is delivered via the subject 
resource network RE-Net, established to support new and existing tutors, 
trainees, mentors and teachers. RE-Net offers a range of services, from 
publishing relevant materials and resources on its website to running 
conferences and information-sharing events and providing an induction 
programme for new ITT tutors. RE-Net also provides a package of CPD 
support and activity for RE tutors and teachers undertaking subject 
development or improvement projects in their own schools. This has been 
delivered through online materials and face-to-face mentor network events. 

Specialist Schools and Academies Trust 

The Specialist Schools and Academies Trust (SSAT) 
(www.ssatrust.org.uk//humanities) works to support RE leaders and 
departments in humanities specialist schools through their Lead Practitioner 
programme and through middle-leadership development courses. These 
courses are designed to address the additional responsibilities of heads of 
specialist target-setting departments in humanities schools. RE subject 
leaders look at issues such as developing links with partner schools, 
businesses and the wider community. The head of RE in a humanities school 
has a wider-reaching role where their subject is one of the three specialist 
subjects. They are responsible for mentoring and coaching other subject 
leaders and for monitoring the impact of their specialist subject’s reach across 
the school community. Other support materials, such as downloadable 
resources, are available on the humanities section of the SSAT website. The 
SSAT also provides regular email updates. 

Ofsted 

Ofsted (www.ofsted.gov.uk) inspects and reports on all maintained schools, 
academies, city colleges and some non-maintained schools in England. The 
inspections take place at intervals that are described in regulations. After an 
inspection Ofsted must report on the quality of the education provided, how 
far it meets the needs of the range of pupils at the school, the educational 
standards, the quality of leadership and management, the spiritual, moral, 
social and cultural development of pupils, the contribution made to the well
being of pupils, and the contribution made by the school to community 
cohesion. 

Ofsted also inspects subjects as part of a three-year rolling programme. Each 
of the National Curriculum subjects RE, personal, social, health and economic 
education (PSHE) and business studies are inspected in general terms and in 
relation to issues specific to that particular subject. In the case of RE, Ofsted 
inspects a sample of 30 primary and 30 secondary schools. A small number 
of additional visits can be made to schools identified as having particularly 
good practice in the subject. The outcomes of this work feed into the Her 

43
 Page 61



 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Majesty's Chief Inspector (HMCI) annual report but also, once every three 
years, result in a substantial report on the subject. Denominational RE at 
schools with a religious character that can teach according to the tenets of 
their faith is inspected separately and additionally by the relevant religious 
authorities themselves, under Section 48 of the Education and Inspections Act 
2006. 

Subject visits are made to a cross-section of primary and secondary schools. 
Each visit involves an evaluation of achievement and standards, the quality of 
provision, and the leadership and management of the subject. In addition, the 
inspection programme focuses on specific issues relating to the subject to 
track the impact of recent initiatives and to investigate the need for future 
developments. The visits are followed by a brief letter to the school 
summarising the points made in the feedback and discussion at the end of the 
visit. The feedback letter is copied by Ofsted to the local authority (LA) and 
the SACRE, where appropriate, and is available to the next institutional 
inspection team. It is also published on the Ofsted website. 

Publications 

Religious education and collective worship (Circular 1/94) 
Issued 31 January 1994, this circular contains extensive guidance on the duty 
of local education authorities, standing advisory council on religious education 
(SACREs) and agreed syllabus conferences (ASCs), regarding religious 
education and collective worship. This remains extant regarding guidance on 
collective worship. (www.teachernet.gov.uk/docbank/index.cfm?id=8342) 

Religious diversity and intercultural education: A reference book for 
schools 
Published by the Council of Europe in 2007: Council of Europe Publishing, 
ISBN: 978-92-871-6223-6. 
(http://book.coe.int/EN/ficheouvrage.php?PAGEID=36&lang=EN&produit_alia 
sid=2191) 

The Toledo guiding principles on teaching about religions and beliefs in 
public schools 
Published by the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe 
(OSCE) and the text prepared by the Office for Democratic Institutions and 
Human Rights in 2007, ISBN 83-60190-48-8. 
(http://www.osce.org/publications/odihr/2007/11/28314_993_en.pdf) 

Guidance on the duty to promote community cohesion 
Published in July 2007, DCSF Reference 00598-2007. 
(http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdeta 
ils&PageMode=publications&ProductId=DCSF-00598-2007) 

Face to face and side by side: A framework for partnership in our multi 
faith society, Department for Communities and Local Government, 2008, 
published following extensive consultation. ISBN: 978 1 4098-0315-7. 
(http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/communities/facetofaceframewo 
rk) 

44
 Page 62



 

 

  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The non-statutory national framework for religious education 
Qualifications and Curriculum Authority and the Department for Education and 
Skills, 2004, published following extensive consultation. ISBN 1-85838-574-1.  
(http://www.qca.org.uk/qca_7886.aspx 

Faith in the system 
DCSF, 2007, Reference 00496-2007, ISBN 978-1-84478-955-9. 
(http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&Pa 
geMode=publications&ProductId=DFES-00496-2007) 

SACREs and self-evaluation – a guide 
Ofsted, May 2005, HMI 2467. (http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/Ofsted-home/Forms
and-guidance/Browse-all-by/Other/General/SACREs-and-self-evaluation-a
guide) 

Useful websites 

QCDA: Curriculum (http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk) 

Includes details about National Curriculum subjects, including, personal, 

social, health and economic education (PSHE).
 

Learning Outside the Classroom (www.lotc.org.uk) 
Information about the benefits of learning outside the classroom. 

Community cohesion (www.community-cohesion.org.uk) 
Web-based community cohesion projects. 

QCDA: Spiritual and moral development 
(http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/key-stages-3-and-4/personal
development/Spiritual-and-moral-development) 
Information about spiritual and moral development in RE. 

QCDA: Primary RE (http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/new-primary
curriculum/areas-of-learning/religious-education) 
Primary RE programme of learning.   

QCDA: Key Stage 3 RE 
(http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/khttp://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/key-stages-3
and-4/subjects/key-stage-3/religious-education) 

Secondary RE programme of study for Key Stage 3. 


QCDA: Key Stage 4 RE (http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/key-stages-3-and
4/subjects/key-stage-4/religious-education) 

Secondary RE programme of study for Key Stage 4. 


RE Online (www.reonline.org.uk) 

Resource for teaching and learning RE in schools.  


RE Today Services (www.retoday.org.uk) 

Source of a range of publications and support for RE. 


RE-Net (www.re-net.ac.uk) 

Specialist RE support for mentors and tutors. 


45
 Page 63



You can download this publication or order copies online at 
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications 

Search using ref: DCSF-00114-2010 

Copies of this publication can be obtained from: 

DCSF Publications 
PO Box 5050 
Sherwood Park 
Annesley 
Nottingham NG15 0DJ 
Tel: 0845 60 222 60 
Fax: 0845 60 333 60 
Textphone: 0845 60 555 60 

ISBN: 978-1-84775-439-4 

© Crown copyright 2010 

Extracts from this document may be reproduced for non-commercial research, education 
or training purposes on the condition that the source is acknowledged. For any other use 
please contact licensing@opsi.gov.uk 

Page 64



                   

Corporate Report Format

To the Chair and Members of the Standing Advisory Council On Religious 
Education

Standing Advisory Council On Religious Education Membership and Attendance

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report provides an update on the membership of the SACRE and 
attendance details 2016/17.

EXEMPT REPORT

2. This is not an exempt report

RECOMMENDATIONS

3. The SACRE is asked to note the current membership and attendance 
information attached at Appendix 1; and 

4. Receive an update on further actions to encourage the filling of vacant posts 
` on the SACRE
 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

5. The essential role of the SACRE is to support its Local Authority (LA) and 
the local authority’s schools in meeting the entitlement of pupils across the 
local authority to engage in high quality Religious Education and Collective 
Worship. 

BACKGROUND

6. In order to fulfil its role effectively the SACRE must appoint representatives 
to each of its four committees Members will recall that a number of meetings 
held during 2016/17 were inquorate due to non-attendance of members 
from those committees where vacancies exist. A minimum of 1 
representative is required from each committee to ensure there is a quorum 
for each SACRE meeting.  A number of actions have been undertaken to try 
and fill the vacancies for the Church of England and Teacher 
Representatives. An update on progress in filling these vacancies will be 
provided at the meeting by the Clerk

7. Detailed below is the current membership details and outstanding 
vacancies:-

8. Group A: Christian Denominations (12 members) and such other 
religions and religious denominations as, in the authority’s opinion, will 

20th October 2017  

Page 65

Agenda Item 5



appropriately reflect the principal religious traditions in the area.

1. Reverend Tom McCready Doncaster Interfaith

2. Mr B Gillham Doncaster Society of Friends

3. Mr R Iball, Methodist

4. Mrs P Kaur, Sikh

5. Ms S Norburn, Humanist 

6.   Mr S Syed, Muslim

7. Mr B Teimoori, Baha’l

8. Lucy Saxton, Roman Catholic

9. Mary Sivaanbu, Hindu

10. Vacancy - Baptist

11. Vacancy - Buddhist

12. Vacancy – Jewish

Group B: The Church of England (4 Members)

1. Ms J Crowther 

3 x Vacancies

Group C: Teacher Associations (5 Members)

1. Ms A Nicolson, National Union of Teachers

2. Mr T Griffiths, National Association of Headteachers

3 x Vacancies
Group D: The Local Authority (4 Members) 

1. Councillor Andrea Robinson

2. Councillor Kevin Rodgers

3. Councillor Derek Smith 

4. Councillor Jonathan Wood

9. Details of Members attendance are attached at Appendix A to the report.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

10. Ensuring there is an up to date membership of SACRE and identifying ways 
to filing vacancies is essential in ensuring the SACRE can fulfil its duties.

Page 66



IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

11.

Outcomes Implications 
Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

The SACRE is a partnership body 
established to improve Religious 
Education across the school’s in 
the Borough.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

12. If vacancies are not filled this may prevent the SACRE from fulfilling its 
statutory role. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

13.  The Membership of the SACRE is in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 390 of the Education Act 1996 which identifies the requirement to 
appoint representatives to the following groups:

(a) a group of persons to represent such Christian denominations and other 
religions and denominations of such religions as, in the opinion of the 
authority, will appropriately reflect the principal religious traditions in the 
area;

(b) except in the case of an area in Wales, a group of persons to represent 
the Church of England;

(c) a group of persons to represent such associations representing teachers 
as, in the opinion of the authority, ought to be represented, having regard 
to the circumstances of the area; and

(d) a group of persons to represent the authority.

14. Taken as a group, those Members appointed by the Local Authority ((d) 
above) represent the political balance across the Council.

15. The way in which the SACRE operates and undertakes its functions is 
consistent with The Religious Education (Meetings of Local Conferences 
and Councils) Regulations 1994. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

16. There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. The 

Page 67



resources to support the work of the SACRE are contained within Legal and 
Democratic Services and Learning Opportunities and Young People’s 
budgets.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

17. There are no specific Human Resource implications associated with this 
report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

18. There are no specific technology implications associated with this report.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

19. In monitoring the effectiveness of RE provision in schools and the 
development of an agreed syllabus, SACRE will wish to seek assurances 
that this is undertaken in accordance with equalities legislation.

CONSULTATION

20. No specific consultation has been undertaken in respect of this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

21. There are no specific background papers associated with this report

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Andrew Sercombe, Governance & Member Services Manager,  
Tel: 01302 734354 Email: andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk

Jonathon Sharp, Senior Standards and Effectiveness Officer, 
Tel: 01302 737617 Email:jonathon.sharp@doncaster.gov.uk

Damian Allen
Director Learning & Opportunities

Page 68

mailto:andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:jonathon.sharp@doncaster.gov.uk


Appendix A
Attendance for 2016-18 Municipal Year

Name 26 Nov 16 6 March 17 6 June 17 20 October 17
Committee A Members (Christian & 
other religious denominations) (12 
members) Current membership    
Chair - Rev Tom McCready
Doncaster Interfaith

Present Present Present

Vice-Chair – Mr Bruce Gillham
Doncaster Society of Friends

Present Present Present

Mr Richard Iball
Methodist

Apologies - Apologies

Mrs P Kaur
Sikh

- - Present

Ms Sandra Norburn
Humanist

Apologies Apologies Apologies

Mr B Teimoori
Baha’l

Present Present Present

Lucy Saxton
Roman Catholic

- - -

Mary Sivaanbu
Hindu

Apologies Present Present

Mr S Syed 
Muslim

Present Apologies Present

Vacancy - Baptist -

P
age 69



Vacancy - Buddhist -

Vacancy - Jewish -

Mrs J Gessler
Jewish
(resigned from 6 June 17)

Present Present Present

Ms J Stephenson
Baptist
(resigned following 6 March 17)

Present Present

Committee B (The Church of 
England) (4 members) Current 
membership

Ms Joanne Crowther Apologies Apologies Apologies

Vacancy -

Vacancy -

Vacancy -

Mr M McGuigan
National Association of Headteachers
(resigned with effect 31/1/17)

Apologies

Committee C (Teacher 
Associations) (5 members) Current 
membership
Ms A Nicolson
National Union of Teachers

- Present Apologies

P
age 70



Mr T Griffiths
National Association of Headteachers

Apologies Apologies Present

Vacancy
- - -

Vacancy
- - -

Vacancy
- - -

Pat Cassidy
National Union of Teachers
(retired February 17)

Present

Committee D (Local Authority) (4 
members) Current membership
Councillor Andrea Robinson Present

Councillor Kevin Rodgers Present

Councillor Derek Smith Present

Councillor Jonathan Wood -

Councillor Nuala Fennelly
(ceased to be Committee Member in 
May 17)

Apologies Apologies

Councillor James Hart
(ceased to be Committee Member in 
May 17)

Present -

Councillor Sue Knowles
(ceased to be Committee Member in 
May 17)

Present Present

P
age 71



Councillor Majid Khan
(ceased to be Committee Member in 
May 17)

Apologies Apologies

Officers in attendance

Jonathan Sharp – Clerk to SACRE
- -

Present

Andrew Sercombe – Governance & 
Members Support Manager - -

Present

Quorate/Inquorate

Inquorate Inquorate Inquorate

P
age 72



                   

Corporate Report Format

To the Chair and Members of the Standing Advisory Council On Religious 
Education

Standing Advisory Council On Religious Education – Work Programme 2017/18

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report provides an opportunity for SACRE to consider its work 
programme for 2017/18.

EXEMPT REPORT

2. This is not an exempt report

RECOMMENDATIONS

3. The SACRE is asked to agree its work programme for 2017/18.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

4. The essential role of the SACRE is to support its Local Authority (LA) and 
the local authority’s schools in meeting the entitlement of pupils across the 
local authority to engage in high quality Religious Education and Collective 
Worship. 

BACKGROUND

5. In order to assist members in agreeing a work programme for the 
forthcoming year the SACRE is reminded of its key duties and functions. 
These are contained in The Religious Education (Meetings of Local 
Conferences and Councils) Regulations 1994; and RE in English Schools: 
Non-statutory guidance 2010. 

6. In brief, local authorities are legally required to: 
 establish a SACRE and appoint representatives to each of the four 

committees 
 establish an occasional body called an agreed syllabus conference 

(ASC) 
 institute a review of its locally agreed syllabus every five years 
 appoint members of the committees represented on the ASC 
 ensure that membership of group/committee A on the SACRE and 

ASC is broadly representative of the local area 
 take all reasonable steps to ensure that SACRE and ASC 

membership is representative 

7. In brief, SACREs are legally required to: 

20 October, 2017

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



 advise the local authority on RE and collective worship 
 publish an annual report on their work 
 send the annual report to QCDA (or its successor body) 
 meet in public, unless confidential information is to be disclosed 
 make their minutes available to the local authority and make 

provision for public access to their agenda and reports 

8. The Guidance also indicates that SACREs should, as a matter of good 
practice: 

 Monitor the provision for both RE and Collective Worship 
 Provide advice and support on RE and Collective Worship to schools 
 In partnership with the local authority, keep the locally agreed 

syllabus and provision in schools under review 
 Offer advice to the local authority 

9. In addition, SACREs may: 
 Require their local authority to review the locally agreed syllabus 
 Decide to advise their local authority 
 Appoint Co-opted members who are not members of any of the four 

groups. 

10. To Ensure the SACRE meets its legal requirements it is recommended that 
the work programme for 2017/18 includes the following:

 Agree future meeting dates for SACRE.  As a minimum it should 
meet once per term.

 Review membership and seek to fill outstanding vacancies to ensure 
it is up to date and representative of the local area.

 Establish an agreed syllabus Body to Review the locally agreed 
syllabus (this is a 5 year review)

 Agree and publish an annual report
 Consider how it wishes to monitor the provision of RE and collective 

worship in schools (e.g. by reviewing exam results, Ofsted feedback 
etc.)

 Identify any other relevant issues for inclusion on the work 
programme.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

11. By establishing a programme of work at the outset the SACRE is 
demonstrating good governance in terms of working towards identified 
priorities and being open and transparent. In terms of outcomes the work 
programme should ensure it is:

 
 promoting improvement in the standards, the quality of teaching, and 

provision in RE 
 evaluating the effectiveness of the locally agreed syllabus 
 promoting improvement in the provision and quality of collective 

worship 
 managing the SACRE and building the partnership between the 

SACRE, the LA and other key stakeholders 

Page 74



 contributing to cohesion across the community and the promotion of 
social and racial harmony. 

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

12.

Outcomes Implications 
Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

The SACRE is a partnership body 
established to improve Religious 
Education across the school’s in 
the Borough.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

13. By establishing a work programme the SACRE will ensure it has an agreed 
purpose. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

14. The legal implications are included within the body of the report 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

15. There are no specific financial implications associated with this report. The 
resources to support the work of the SACRE are contained within Legal and 
Democratic Services and Learning Opportunities and Young People’s 
budgets.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

16. There are no specific Human Resource implications associated with this 
report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

17. There are no specific technology implications associated with this report.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

18. In monitoring the effectiveness of RE provision in school’s and the 
development of an agreed syllabus, SACRE will wish to seek assurances 
that this is undertaken in accordance with equalities legislation.

CONSULTATION

19. SACRE members supported the idea of agreeing an annual work 
programme at its previous meeting.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 75



20. There are no specific background papers associated with this report

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Name, Andrew Sercombe, Governance & Member Services Manager,  
01302 734354 andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk

Jonathon Sharp, Senior Standards and Effectiveness Officer, 01302 737617
jonathon.sharp@doncaster.gov.uk

Damian Allen
Director Learning & Opportunities

Page 76

mailto:andrew.sercombe@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:jonathon.sharp@doncaster.gov.uk


INFORMATION EXCHANGE

The following information has been received by Mr Behdad Teimoori.

Members of SACRE may know, but the Baha’i Faith is about to embark on a 
celebration of the 200 year anniversary of the birth of its founder (Baha’u’llah).  As 
part of this celebration, the Baha’i community throughout the United Kingdom is 
offering schools the opportunity to show their students a short film that has been 
developed to mark this celebration and also bring some meaning to young people in 
today’s society (irrespective of faith or none).

This short film is called ‘Bahá'u'lláh - The Divine Physician’.  The film shows young 
people from diverse backgrounds reflecting on the issues facing the world and the 
potential of the Baha’i teachings to address these issues.  The film follows the daily 
activities of the young people and includes stories about Bahá'u'lláh and his 
teachings told through animated sequences.

The film is available on YouTube under the following 
link: https://youtu.be/Gzs_11Xk6zg

The film could be used in R.E. classes in a number of ways, one of which is to offer it 
to teachers to use as the basis of a lesson on the Bahá’í Faith.  Materials to support 
teachers in the use of this film in the classroom are available for download on the 
Bahá'í RE website: http://re.bahai.org.uk/bicentenary.  Local Baha’I’s in Doncaster 
could also offer their services to present this films to schools themselves if this will 
help.  

I welcome any feedback and as mentioned, would be happy to offer services to 
schools to assist with such lesson plans, if this will help.

Best Regards

Mr Behdad Teimoori

Page 77

Agenda Item 7

https://youtu.be/Gzs_11Xk6zg
http://re.bahai.org.uk/bicentenary


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79

Agenda Item 8



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 6th June 2017.
	4 Constitution, Terms of Reference and Governance Arrangements 2017/18 (attached).
	Terms of Ref App 2

	5 Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education Membership and Attendance (attached).
	Membership Appendix 1 Attendance 2017-18

	6 Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education - Work Programme 2017/18 (attached).
	7 Information Exchange (attached).
	8 NASACRE Bulletin (attached).

